
                 
  Public Notice of Meeting 

WILTON-LYNDEBOROUGH COOPERATIVE  
              SCHOOL BOARD MEETING 

                                                   Tuesday, August 10, 2021 
                                Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative M/H School 

            6:30 p.m. 
 
 Video conferencing: meet.google.com/nfp-buhr-dcg 

Audio:  +1 601-516-5550 PIN: 610 683 759# 

 
Due to current events, all videoconferencing options may be subject to modifications. Please check 
www.sau63.org for the latest information. 

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER-Alexander LoVerme-Chair  
 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE AGENDA 

 
IV. PUBLIC COMMENTS: This is the public’s opportunity to speak to items on the agenda.  In the 

interest of preserving individual privacy and due process rights, the Board requests that comments 
(including complaints) regarding individual employees or students be directed to the Superintendent 
in accord with the processes set forth in School Board Policies KE and KEB.   

 
V. BOARD CORRESPONDENCE 

a. Reports  
i. Superintendent’s Report  

ii. Principals’ Reports 
iii. Curriculum Coordinator’s Report   

b. Letters/Information 
i. General Assurances 

 
VI. ACCOUNTING FIRM/CPA REPORT 

 
VII. NHSBA MEMBERSHIP 

 
VIII. DRAFT BACK TO SCHOOL PLAN 

 
IX. SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER VACANCY 
 
X. SCHOOL BOARD WORKSHOP UPDATE  

 
XI. POLICIES-2ND READ 

i. ACAA- Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students 
ii. ACAA-R-Student Discrimination-Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment 

Complaint Procedures 
iii. ACAB-Harassment and Sexual Harassment of School Employees 
iv. ACAB-R-Employee Discrimination-Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment 

Complaint Procedures 
v. AC-Nondiscrimination-Equal Opportunity 

 
XII. ACTION ITEMS 

a. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting 



 
XIII. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

i. Policy Committee 
 

XIV. RESIGNATIONS/APPOINTMENTS/LEAVES   
a. Appointment-Kira Brewster-SPED Teacher/Case Manager WLC 
b. Appointments-Pending 
c. Resignation-Megan Sass-School Psychologist 
 

XV. PUBLIC COMMENTS   
 
XVI. SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS   

 
XVII. NON-PUBLIC SESSION RSA 91-A: 3 II (A) (B) (C)   

i.  Personnel and Student Matters 
 

XVIII. ADJOURNMENT  
 

 
INFORMATION:  Next School Board Meeting‐August 24, 6:30 PM at WLC 

The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, sexual orientation, 

gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice.  



 The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, 
sexual orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT 
August 10, 2021 

 
I have returned from a working vacation and am excited to get back to district business!  The month of July has been 
a whirlwind - from properly closing out the last school year to preparing to open the doors for our students soon!  
This combined with building a new leadership team and ensuring that our new administrators have the proper 
supports has been challenging.  I’m happy to report that we are all in good spirits and determined as ever!  
 
Working on our back-to-school protocol has been trying during these times, as our current COVID-19 situation 
seems to be changing rapidly.  I’ve attached a draft proposal for you to consider this evening.  A particular focus I 
would like to draw your attention to is the use of evidence and a data decision matrix to help us in making critical 
decisions as information and health & safety conditions change.  Regardless of our collective decisions, I want to 
ensure that our back-to-school plan is flexible and responsive to allow us to pivot as necessary given the changing 
data available to us.  
 
Ms. LaPlante and I met with Scott Eagen on July 23.  The report from Plodzik & Sanderson is complete and is 
included on the agenda for tonight’s meeting.   
 
We have continued to work through our hiring procedures and have one appointment coming to the Board this 
evening, Kira Brewster, SPED Case Manager.   
 
Our extended leadership team held a retreat on August 3rd.  Our agenda included developing group norms and 
expectations, a critical book discussion titled The Five Dysfunctions of Team and how the model can positively 
impact our team development and our focus on climate and culture in our buildings. Ms. LaPlante also presented a 
framework and overview of our budget expectations and processes.   I am grateful to work with such a great group of 
talented individuals who bring so much to our district!  On August 12th, we will meet again to develop our District 
goals, continue our discussion on the budget processes, and begin to build a data dashboard. 
 
On August 3rd, I met with Steve Brown, Steve’s School Bus Service, and we talked about pick-ups/drop-offs, snow 
days, sanitation, physical distancing, and a mask requirement while in a school bus.  Our meeting was cordial and 
mutually supportive.  
 
We are required to share with you the General Assurances and I have provided a copy of the documents that require 
signatures from the Superintendent and Board Chair. This is a requirement from the DOE and after signatures are 
captured, they are returned to the DOE. One of the documents lists the federal grants we receive and another shows 
what they are for and how we spend them.   
 
I want to comment briefly on a question I’ve received about Critical Race Theory (CRT) and how this topic that is 
constantly in the media, is related to our schools.  I have just recently begun to try to understand this topic and 
certainly do not purport to understand these ideas in any deep and meaningful way.  My experience in our District-in 
our WLC classrooms-is one where we do not shy away from teaching about the imperfections of our history nor do 
we shy away from teaching about the richness of our society and our perpetual efforts to improve the American 
experience.  We introduce concepts in context, emphasize the examination of evidence to build conclusions, and 
hopefully inspire our students to be part of the change process to continue to make our communities and our society a 
better place for all of us.    

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District 
School Administrative Unit #63 

192 Forest Road Lyndeborough, NH 03082   
                       603-732-9227 
 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District provides a safe and educational environment that promotes student exploration, critical thinking and 
responsible citizenship. 

          Peter Weaver                                Ned Pratt                                            Kristie LaPlante                               Emily Stefanich 
 Superintendent of Schools          Director of Student Support Services Business Administrator         District Curriculum Coordinator 



 The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, 
sexual orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice. 

 
We currently have not discussed this topic in any way at the building level.  Rather, my immediate focus is to 
emphasize the importance of a written and approved curriculum for all of our classes that is aligned with established 
standards and expectations, the need for an ongoing, formal review and revision process, and I want to emphasize the 
importance of the alignment between our written curriculum and what is taught in the classroom.  With this, I want to 
ensure that we have a curriculum approval system in place when modifying our written curriculum.  I want to turn 
your attention to two items:    
 
   First, we are working to reestablish our policy guidelines that frame how our curriculum is developed and 

adopted in the District.  We will look at these policies in the Policy Committee and ensure that we have a 
clear understanding that will guide our curriculum process and decision making moving forward. 

 Second, House Bill 2 passed by both the legislature and signed by our Governor on June 25th, 2021 speaks 
to some of this issue.   The general emphasis with the Prohibition on Teaching Discrimination is on treating 
everyone with equality, dignity, and respect.  It places a prohibition on what can be taught, clarifies what can 
be taught in US History, and provides clarification for families who believe that a school has violated this 
prohibition. The link attached will help  to clarify important points in the law:  https://www.doj.nh.gov/civil-
rights/index.htm FAQs:  New discriminatory practice prohibitions applicable to K-12 educational 
programs 



WILTON-LYNDEBOROUGH COOPERATIVE
MIDDLE SCHOOL / HIGH SCHOOL

57 SCHOOL ROAD
WILTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03086

(603) 732-9230
www.sau63.org

Dr. Sarah Edmunds, Principal Amanda J. Kovaliv, School  Counseling Coordinator
Kathryn Gosselin, Assistant Principal Alice Bartoldus, Middle School Counselor

August 2021 WLC Principal's Report

Competency Recovery/Summer School/ESY/RISE
Competency Recovery: The 2021 competency
recovery days went very well at WLC.  They took
place from June 14-June 24 and multiple students
were able to quickly make up competencies that
they needed to pass and are back on track for a
bright, new start of the 2021-2022 school year.

Summer School: High school summer school is
continuing until August 9 and we have six
students who are taking full advantage of this
opportunity.  Middle school summer school
ended on July 29.  The students who attended
were successful  and will move on confidently in
the fall.

ESY (Extended School Year): Students participating in ESY were very successful and had a lot
of fun!  Their program will continue until August 6.  They worked on honing their skills to make
the transition to next year even better.

RISE Program(Reaching Independent Structured Environment):
The RISE program had their own share of fun this summer as
they continued to learn and grow.  Students had the opportunity
to help grow vegetables in the WLC garden, go bowling, pick
blueberries, do daily Zumba exercises, and cook!
We are so thankful to the  teachers who did an incredible job
working in all of these programs to help our students find
success: Thank you to: Victoria Schauer, Maggie Dwyer, Cathy
Blais, Jessica Wentworth, Hannah Trovich, Kim Meyer, Katie
Morrow, Gisele Dailey, Kira Brewster, Kim Kershlis, Tracy
Girouard, Ashley Ansara, Christina Hahn, Kiersten Streeter,
Chrissy Hyer, and Kristen Douglass.

http://www.sau63.org


SEL (Social Emotional Learning) Fun Fridays
Students are focusing on the themes of compassion,
gratitude, courage, forgiveness, and friendship all
while having a blast and getting used to being with
others again after the pandemic. They have seen
magic shows, participated in arts and crafts, eaten lots
of snacks, and genuinely enjoyed each other’s
company! Thank you to Alice Bartoldus, Mandy
Kovaliv, and Kiersten Streeter for making this
program happen.

Professional Development
Teachers have also been in the building meeting, discussing, and building interdisciplinary
curriculum.  Social studies teacher Zach Provost and
English teacher Alison Bowman met in the WLC library to
collaborate.
Assistant Principal Katie Gosselin and I will be attending a
workshop on the new student discipline laws that went into
effect on July 1.  This is being provided by Drummund and
Woodsum and we look forward to bringing our new
understanding of these laws back to WLC and updating our
discipline policy where needed.

New Teacher Orientation Days/Returning Teacher PD
We are very excited to welcome our new teachers on August 18 and 19!  Our returning teachers will
join us August 24-27.  We are currently planning our professional development and celebration of a
new school year.

Cleaning and Upkeep
The school is starting to have the put together, shiny sheen of a new school year! We are almost
ready for our students to return.  Thank you so much to Buddy Erb, Ann Bird, Jackie Bird, Josh
Morrow, and Scott Hasu. Their work has been tireless.



Student Recognition
Shawn Bishop of the class of 2022 has made us all
proud by winning the Youth in Care Leader of the Year
Award for NH.  This award is given to young people in
the foster care system that advocate not only for
themselves but for others in their community.  He was
also presented this award in recognition of his
resilience and perseverance throughout his life. He
will receive his award in an August 12th ceremony.

Shawn is a student athlete at WLC and works for the
WLC technology director over the summer.  He will
continue with the tech department during the school
year as an intern. Congratulations, Shawn!  We are so
very proud of you and all of your many
accomplishments!  You inspire us all!



SAU 3 School Board Report
August 2021

Florence Rideout Elementary School

GETTING STARTED
It is hard to believe it has only been three weeks since I began my new role. The time has

truly flown by! As I settle into my new role as principal of Florence Rideout Elementary

School I have been welcomed, impressed, and inspired. Staff, community members and

students have welcomed me warmly. I have observed staff working with students and have

been impressed by their interactions and the custodial staff has worked hard and with such

pride to make our beautiful building ready for a new year. The greatest joy, however, has

been the laughter and smiles offered by students every day. All of these interactions have

filled me with the anticipation and excitement a new school year brings.

Along with our new administrative assistant, Christina Gauthier, I have been working on

developing a new schedule to meet the new contract expectations, quickly working to

understand the diverse role of a building administrator in a small community, looking at

data, and working on all of the details that need to be in place for the start of the year.

Summer Programming at FRES

ESY, RISE, AND SUMMER ACADEMY

https://www.sau63.org/Page/9


Summer Academy, ESY, and RISE are underway. Each day over 70 students arrive at FRES

for summer programming. Attendance has been very good. All three programs are staffed

by educators who are working to ensure each student is growing academically and as ready

for the fall as possible. Summer Academy ends this week, the ESY program ends next week,

and the RISE program will end the following week. Students have received instruction in the

following areas: reading, writing, math, science, and music. The direct instruction and

practice has differentiated to meet the needs of individual students.

A small group of rising 6th graders who participated in the Summer Academy served as

peer tutors. These students worked throughout the week to move through a cycle of learn,

prepare, and teach. After spending time learning about a specific topic the students

developed a plan to then teach the topic to others. The photos below show our rising 6th

graders teaching a small group STEM activity. Not only did these peer tutors help their

younger peers learn new information and skills, they also served as outstanding role

models. Thank you to all!

NEW STAFF AT FRES
We will welcome some new faces at FRES as well as some familiar faces in new roles for

the 21-22 school year.

Jessica Hill - First Grade Teacher



Katie Balcom - School Nurse

Eric Bouldin - Custodian

Christina Gauthier - Administrative Assistant to the Principal

Gina Galluzzo - Fourth Grade Teacher, former remote teacher

Kristen Dame - First Grade Teacher, former interventionist

Bridget Fuller - WIN Coordinator and interventionist, former first grade teacher.

We are in the process of filling the open Title 1 tutor position. This should be complete in

the next few days.

LISTENING SESSIONS
As I work to develop a shared vision for the upcoming year at FRES I sought the input of

staff, families, and community members. Through these listening sessions I was able to

talk with members of all stakeholder groups. I was able to meet with nearly every staff

member of FRES. They took time from their summer break to come in, meet me, and share

their hopes and dreams for our school. Parents, too, came in to share information about

their children and what they believe is most important for the upcoming year. Community

members offered suggestions and opinions about ways we could improve. Most compelling

though, was the unanimously shared belief that FRES was a great school with incredible

staff and students. EVERY person I spoke with, including students, shared the desire to

continue to build a positive and welcoming school where all members are treated fairly and

challenged to become the best versions of themselves as possible. FRES is a great school

with a lot of heart!

Any parent, guardian, or community member is still welcome to contact FRES to schedule a

time to meet with me. Please call Christina Gauthier at (603) 732-9264 to schedule a time.

pdf

Listening Sessions Letter

https://www.smore.com/app/attachments/download/6103de2f9a4fa067f44c9dc1
https://www.smore.com/app/attachments/download/6103de2f9a4fa067f44c9dc1


Introductory letter shared with the community.

Download

404.0 KB

RESPONSIVE CLASSROOM
This year FRES will focus on the tenets and strategies of the Responsive Classroom(RC)

model. Responsive Classroom is not a program, but rather a way of creating a safe,

supporting, and rigorous school environment. Many teachers at FRES are familiar with the

model and use components of it already. Collectively we will learn and implement RC

school wide. To learn more out Responsive Classroom please follow the link below.

https://www.youtube.com/embed/mhV6AcBxeBc

TRADITIONS
All the best to the WLCS seniors as they move on to new adventures and a hearty welcome

to those kiddos new to FRES!

https://www.smore.com/app/attachments/download/6103de2f9a4fa067f44c9dc1
https://www.smore.com/app/attachments/download/6103de2f9a4fa067f44c9dc1
https://www.smore.com/app/attachments/download/6103de2f9a4fa067f44c9dc1
https://s.smore.com/u/f0b4/1190fcf05c3f19d9c4e20ca34abc41de.png
https://www.youtube.com/embed/mhV6AcBxeBc


FRES PTO MEETING

WHEN

WEDNESDAY, AUG. 11TH, 6:30PM
WHERE

FRES LIBRARY
MORE INFORMATION

Please join us for our first meeting of the new school year. All are welcome to attend and

join us as we begin planning for the upcoming school year.



 The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, 

sexual orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Curriculum Coordinator Report: August 10th, 2021 
 
Professional Learning 
 
Instructional Leadership Mini-Retreat – On Monday August 2nd, the superintendent, building principals 
and myself gathered to ground ourselves on a shared vision around data & assessment, curriculum and 
professional development. We were able to read an article about the importance of data and its 
relevance to our roles as school/district leaders.  As a team, we looked at what our priorities and 
expectations are this year around curriculum writing, as well as what our new teacher and teacher 
workshop days will look like later in August.  
  
New Teacher Mentoring Program – All new instructional staff have been paired with an experienced 
mentor in their school building. On August 18th and 19th, our new staff will gather at WLC and FRES to 
onboard with district staff.  
 
Teacher Workshop Days – As an instructional leadership team, we have been working on determining 
the agenda for each of the days. During one of these days, there will be a review of our curriculum 
templates and time to build common language/vocabulary around the terms that we use so that all 
instructional staff are ready to hit the ground running when school starts.  
 
Curriculum  
  
Revising Curriculum Templates – I have been working to revise and refine the templates based on staff 
feedback and information from our building principals. These templates will still cover all pertinent 
information relevant to instructional units, but will be more efficient and include more focused 
language.  They will also streamline information so that it is readily accessible and easy to navigate for 
anyone reading the documents.  
 
Curriculum Databases – I have created two Google Sheets that have all of the curriculum documents for 
FRES/LCS and WLC. These two sheets can be used by building principals to inventory what they have, 
monitor completeness as well as help us facilitate a process for reviewing the documents.  As the fall 
progresses, I will be working with the building principals to create a process for creation, review and 
revision for the curriculum documents with the goal of having completely written curriculum documents 
for WLC by the end of the year, as well as completed scope & sequence and competencies for every 
content at LCS/FRES by the end of the year.  
  
Data & Assessment 
 
Data Dashboard – During our instructional leadership retreat, we created a list of all of the data points 
we collect in a given school year. From this list, we identified the top data points that would represent if 
we were being successful as a school district, which included various standardized assessment measures 
as other data our schools are already collecting. We will begin accumulating this data and creating a  
  

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District 

School Administrative Unit #63 

District Curicum Coordinator  

  
192 Forest Road Lyndeborough, NH 03082   

                       603-732-9227 

 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District provides a safe and educational environment that promotes student exploration, critical thinking and 

responsible citizenship. 

 

Emily Stefanich, M.Ed 

District Curriculum Coordinator 

  

  



 The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, 

sexual orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice. 

visual dashboard that we can share publicly on our website, the school board and to our larger 
communities that represents where we are in that moment. This is in its initial draft form as we build it 
as a leadership team. We will be seeking input and feedback from our faculties as well as the school 
board as we seek to revise and refine our final product. We will create a process for regular updates to 
the dashboard and use this as a tool to facilitate student success in the district.  
 
Grants  
 
Introductory Meetings – In the month of July, I met with Dr. Julie Heon, our grants coordinator, to get 
an understanding of our grants process and information. We also met with Kristie LaPlante to discuss 
how the Title Grants are executed and the process for allocating the funds.  





































































Jarnes A. Sojka, CPA*

Sheryl A. Pran, CPA.-*

MichaelJ. Campo, CPA, MACCY

Scon T. Eagen, Cl'A, CFE

Karen M. Locelle, CPA, CVA, CFE

Ashley Miller Klem, CPA, MSA

Tyler A. Paine, CPA'*.

Kyle G. Gingrc, CPA

Thomas C. Giffen, CPA

Ryan T. Gibbons, CPA, CFE

Brian P McDermott, CPA**

Justin Larsh, CPA

Sylvia Y Petro, MSA, CFE

IND EPEND ENT ACCOANTANT'S RE PO RT
ON APPLYING AGREED-UPON PROC EDURES

To the Members of the School Board
Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District
Wilton, New Hampshire

We have performed the procedures enumerated below on evaluating the Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative
School District's (WLCSD's) grant accounting and reporting, and compliance with certain accounting
procedures of WLCSD for the period July 1,2020 through May 31,2021. WLCSD's management is
responsible for the School District's grant accounting and reporting, and compliance with certain accounting
procedures.

WLCSD has agreed to and acknowledged that the procedures performed are appropriate to meet the intended
purpose of evaluating the School District's grant accounting and reporting, and compliance with certain
accounting procedures. This report may not be suitable for any other purpose. The procedures perfomed
may not address all the items of interest to a user of this reporl and may not meet the needs of all users of this
report and, as such, users are responsible for determining whether the procedures performed are appropriate
for their purposes.

The procedures and associated findings are as follows:

Fund Balance

Procedure:

1. We obtained the general ledger for the period July l, 2020 through May 31, 2021 and compared the

beginning fund balance reported in the general ledger for the WLCSD general fund, grants fund, and food
service fund to the audited fund balances at June 30,2020,

Findings:

We identified variances in the beginning fund balance of the general fund and grants fund of $54,270 and

$26,637, respectively.

General Fund

Food

Grants Fund Service Fund

June 30, 2020 Fund Balance per:

Infinite Visions GeneralLedpr $ 860,146 $ (26,637) $

Audit Report 914,416

Variance $_(!1220 $---126.637) $

Comments:

In connection with this procedure, we reviewed the ending general ledger fund balance at June 30,2020 and
noted that it agreed with the June 30, 2020 audited fund balance. The likely cause of the fund balance
variances noted an improper rollforward procedure for the year ended June 30, 2020. lt is required to perform
a rollforward procedure annually to bring forward beginning balances into the upcoming fiscal years general

' Aln lhcntcd ot lllait

" Alto licncd h illuachurtt

"' Allo lic.tft.t il V.rnont

Proo zrK er SaxDERSoN, P.A.
O t:rt i fi etl 11 t hli.c Accou rtt czr' Lt s

It)-l Norrh JVlrirr Strrer . (rrrrc,rrrl . Nrrr I LrrrrIshir. . tl.l30l-5{)6-j . ()0:t.:,r-5-()()()6 . rvrv\,.PIrrclzik.conr



Ililto n- Ly n de b o ro ug lt S c ho o I D istr ict
July 23,2021
Page 2

ledger database. When this rollforward is performed prior to making all audit adjustments, the rollforward must be reversed and

reperformed. We recommend the Business Administrator contact technical support for Infinite Visions general ledger software

to reverse and reperform the rollforward procedure

Bank Reconciliations

Procedure:

2. We obtained monthly bank reconciliations and bank statements for TD Bank General Fund Operating Account X0055, and

monthly general ledger reporling for the period July 2020 through May 2021. We compared the reconciled bank balance per the

monthly bank reconciliation to the ending cash balance per the general ledger for cash accounts.

Findings:

We identified the following variances between the monthly bank reconciliations for TD Bank General Fund Operating Account
X0055 and the general ledger cash account 04.0100.000.00.00000:

TD Bank General Fund Operating Account X0055

Reconciled General l*dger
Month

Iuly 2020

August 2020

September 2020

October 2020

November 2020

December 2020

Ianuary 2021

February 2021

March202l
April202l
May 2021

Comments:

We identified variances between the reconciled bank balance and general ledger balance beginning in July of 2020. We noted
two outstanding disbursements on the July 2020 bank reconciliation that were listed as direct voucher postings totaling
$55,676.94. These transactions remain outstanding as of the ll{ay 2021 bank reconciliation. The School District should research

and correct these direct voucher postings, then begin to re-reconcile the accounts starting in July 2020. Addirionally, once a

monthly bank statement reconciliation is completed it should be formally closed in the accounting system to prevent future
changestothatbankstatement. WenotedthatthebankstatementwasreconciledasofJune30,2020;however,March20l9was
the last time a bank reconciliation was closed.

Procedure:

3. We obtained monthly bank reconciliations and bank statements for TD Bank School Lunch Program Account X0912 and

monthly general ledger reporting for the period July 2020 through May 2021. We compared the reconciled bank balances to the

ending cash balance per the general ledger for cash account 21.0100.000.00.00000.

Bank Balance

$ 962,715.93

$ 1,470,742.50

$ t,490,920.67

$ 1,269,887.39

$ 1,734,553.63

$ 1,773,524.91

$ 1,378,735.47

$ 1,371 ,958.06

$ 1,780,76254

$ 1,738,582.35

$ 1,381,392.02

Balance

$ 1,007,846.87

$ 1,424,045.96

$ 1,444,224.13

$ 1,223,190.85

$ I,687,857.09

s 1,726,828.37

$ I,332,038.93

$ 1,287,116.40

$ 1,695,920.98

$ 1,702,221.64

$ 1,364,103.87

VariAnce

$ (45, 130.94)

$ 46,696.54

$ 46,696.54

$ 46,696.54

$ 46,696.54

$ 46,696.54

$ 46,696.54

$ 84,841.66

$ 84,841 .66

$ 36,360.71

$ 17,288. l5



ll ilto n- Ly nde b o ro ug h S c ho o I D istr ict
July 23,2021
Page 3

Findings:

The reconciled bank balances for TD Bank School Lunch Program Account X0912 and the general ledger cash account

2 I .0100.000.00.00000 agreed without exception:

TD Bank School Ln nch Prosram Account X0912

Month
July 2020

August 2020

September 2020

October 2020

November 2020

December 2020

Ianuary 2021

February 2021

March 2021

April2021
May 2021

Reconciled
Bank Balance

$ 25,822.41

$ 2s,822.41

$ 29,305.01

$ 31,769.16

$ 33,827.06

$ 35,819.06

$ 37,573.3 |

$ 58,120.67

$ 58,849.42

$ 59,92s.27

s 62,502.91

General t*dger
Balance

s 25,822.41

$ 25,822.41

$ 29,305.01

$ 31,769.16

$ 33,827.06

$ 35,819.06

$ 37,573.3l

$ 58,120.67

$ 58,849.42

$ 59,92s.27

$ 62,502.91

Variance

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Comments:

None,

Procedure:

4. Verify the completion of monthly reconciliations between the reconciled cash balance per Infinite Visions general ledger

software and the School District Treasurer's reconciled cash balance, for the period July 2020 through May 2021.

Findings:

Due to issues with the general ledger cash reconciliations, reconciliations with the Treasurer were not completed at the time of
our procedures.

Comments:

We noted that the School District Treasurer was attempting to perform reconciliations with the general ledger while we were

performing our procedures. It is recommended that the Treasurer review and reconcile with the general ledger once the

appropriate adjustments have been made to the general ledger bank reconciliations. In the future it is imperative that the general

ledger reconciliation be performed monthly in a timely manner, to provide the Treasurer with the ability to perform a timely
reconciliation with the general ledger,

Budget Reconciliation

Procedure:

5. Reconcile revenue and expenditure budgets posted in Infinite Visions general ledger software to adopted budget per State of
New Hampshire Department of Revenue Form MS-22R - DRA Revised/Reviewed Appropriations and Form MS-24R - Revised

Estimated Revenues Adjustedfor the fiscal year ending June 30,2021.

Findings:

The expenditure budget per Infinite Visions general ledger software agrees to State of New Hampshire Department of Revenue
Form MS-22R - DRI Revised/Reviewed Appropriations. No revenue budget was entered into Infinite Visions; therefore, the

budget does not reconcile to State of New Hampshire Department of Revenue Form MS-24R - Revised Estimated Revenues

Adjusted.



Wilto n- Ly n de b o ro ug It S cho o I D istr ict
July 23,2021
Page 4

Comments:

We recornmend that both the revenue and expenditure budgets be recorded in the general ledger. This budget entry should be

reconciled to the approved budget, per the state forms noted above. It is critical that the School District track revenue and

expenditure variances on an ongoing basis in order to have a better estimate of cash flows, potential errors, and fund balance
estimates.

Trust f,'und Transfers

Procedure:

6. We obtained and reviewed the Malch 7,2020 Annual Meeting Minutes of the Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School
District for the purpose of identifying warrant articles appropriating funds into the School District's trust funds. We identified
the following approved warrant articles appropriating money to School District Trust Funds:

WA #7 - Raise and appropriate $150,000 to be added to the Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative Building/Equipment
& Roadway Capital Reserve Fund.

WA #8 - Raise and appropriate $100,000 to be added to the Wilton-Lyndeborough Educating Educationally Disabled
Children Capital Reserve Fund.

We reviewed supporting documentation to verify that the transfers above were completed.

Findings:

We verified the transfer of funds for the appropriations above via Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District check
no.32920, dated 112712021, payable to the Town of Wilton-Trustee of Trust Funds, in the amount of $250,000. We nbted that
check no. 32920 in the amount of $250,000 cleared the bank account on 218/2021 .

Comments:

None

Food Service

Procedures:

7. We obtained the manual breakfast and lunch meal count sheets maintained by each school location (Florence Rideout
Elementary School, Lyndeborough Central School, and Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative Middle/High School) and monthly
USDA National School Lunch Program meal reimbursement claim forms for the period August 2020 through June 202l.We
compared the total monthly breakfast and lunch meals served per the manual meal count sheets to the monthly USDA National
School Lunch Program meal reimbursement claim forms to determine if any differences exist.

Month
August 2020

September 2020

October 2020

November 2020

December 2020

Ianuary 2021

February 2021

March202l
April202l
May 2021

June 202 I

Total

Meal
Cou nt
Sheets

Meal
Claim
Forms

39

4,070

4,641

5,143

4,136

6,075

3,746

7,696

5,775

7,260

2,712

Difference
39

23

(s07)
4,047

5,1 48

5,t43
4,136

6,075

3,746
'1,696

5,775

7,260

2,712

(445)51,738 51,293



ll ilto n- Ly nde b o r o ug lt S c ho o I D istr ict
July 23,2021
Page 5

Findings:

We identified three variances between the monthly meal count sheets in the months of August 2020, September 2020, and
October 2020:

August 2020 - School District did not retain a meal count sheet for the month of August 2020. tJnable to verify 39
meals claimed.

September 2020 -Addition error in totaling meal count sheet resulted in additional 23 meals claimed.

October 2020 _ Meal counts fiom October I and Octobe r 2 for all schools were not included in October reimbursement
claim resulting in an underclaiming of 507 meals.

Comments:

Due to COVID-19 pandemic the School District changed procedure and used manual meal count sheets instead of relying on the
point-of-sale system for meal counts, as they have historically done. This change was consistent with alternative procedure
guidelines received from the Depaftment of Education. The School District has indicated that they will return to using the point-
of-sale system totals to determine reimbursable meal counts for the fiscal year ended June 30,2022, which should decrease the
probability of reporting errors.

Grants

Procedures:

8. We obtained the New Hampshire Department of Education (NH DOE) grant agreements for the open grants for July 1,2020,
through May 31, 2021. We also obtained monthly reporting for each grant from the NH DOE grants management system, and
generaf ledger expenditure reports for each grant for fiscal years 2019,2020, and202l. We performed the following procedures:

a. We compared the total NH DOE budget by grant to project to date expenditures per the general ledger to determine
the unexpended budget by grant.

b. We compared the total funding received by WLCSD by grant, to the project to date expenditures per the general
ledger to determine the unreimbursed expenditures by grant.

The results of our procedures are summarized on the following page.

This space intentionally left blank



Iiliho n-Ly nde b o ro ug h S c ho oI Distia
July 23,2021

Page 6

Period of Grant
Performance Number

June 30.2021 and Prior
20200r46
92562
20203272

20203449

N/A
N/A

Aueust 31. 2021

2021lL32
September 30. 2021

20190332
20190462

92562
20651
95668

20200462
20200332
202584
202584

Sentember 30.2022
202ta840
20210840

Unassigned

Unassigned

Unassigned

September 30. 2023
Unassigned

$ 89,175.25 $

$ 5,987.97 $

$ 15,000.00 $

$ l r,464.78 $

s 110,200.00 $

$ 6,465.69 $

( 15,000.00)

(l 10,200.00)
(6,46s.69)

(40,086.54) $

s
-$
-$
-$-a
-$
-$-s
-$

Budget per

NH DOE

Total
Funding
Received

Project
to Date

Expenditures
oer GL

Unreimbursed
Grant

Expenditures

Reimbursements
Without

Recorded GL
Expenditures

(Overexpended)

Unexpended

Budeet

(59,062.s0)

0.22

97,992.64

(2,012.49)

(2,563.05)

69,083. l 5

1,533.81

7,291.r1
42,834.t4

Grant Name

Title I
Preschool

Pre-Engineering

Robotics
SPSRF I
SPSRF 2

Title I

IDEA
Preschool

TitIC IVA
Title IIA
Cares - ESSER I

94,728.89
6,029.00

15,000.00

r 1,465.00

l10,200.00

6,465.69

148,237.75

6,029.00

11,464.78

5,553.64
41.03

4,365.72

3,8 r 8.24

$

$

$

s
$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

s 97,992.64 $ 40,086.54 $

$ 28,605.49 $

$ 14,757.38 $

$ 200,85 1.53 $

$ 2,385.15 $

$ 6,000.00 $

$ 16,677.52 S

$ 31,456.04 $

$ 191,169.84 $

$ 4,060.51 $

191,770.84

2,14t.00

7,29l.tl
69,774.02

$ 30,617.98 $

$ 14,757.38 $

$ 203,414.58 $

$ 2,385.t5 $
$ 5,960.00 $

$ 13,304.79 $

$ 26,138.25 $

$ 191,051.34 $

$ 2,755.18 $

122,687.69

607.19

26,939.88

$

Title IIA
TitIC IVA
IDEA
Preschool

Remote Leaming
TitIE IVA
TitIE IIA
IDEA
Preschool

28,605.49

14,757.38

r 96,485.81

2,38s.15

5,960.00

9,486.5s
26,138.25

177,929-36
2,5t3.32

40.00

3,372.73

5,317.79
I18.50

1,305.33

13,121.98

24t.86

$

$

$

$
$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

s

$

$

$

$

$

$

$$

122,687.69

607.19

26,939.88

Crrsa - ESSER II $ 69,746.75 $ $ 69,746.75



lltilton-Lynde boro ug h S c ho o I District
July 23,2021
Page 7

Findings:

Comments:

June 30, 2021 Period of Performance

20200146 - Title I

a. Our procedures identified a total underspent NH DOE grant budget of $298,636.17 for all grants reviewed, an

additional $63,638.04 in overspent budgets was identified. It is anticipated that some or all over the overspent
budgets will be reclassified and applied towards the underspent budget balance. The net amount of this activity is

a net under expenditure of $234,998.13 for all funds reviewed. The period of perfonnance to obligate the remaining
grant funding is included in the comments below. Additionally, our procedures identified $5,594.67 in approved
funding that had lapsed prior to June 30,2021.

b. Our procedures identified $171,782.56 in unrequested reimbursements. This represents expenditures recorded in
the grants fund general ledger, for which a reimbursement has not been requested. As noted above there is a
potential for up to an additional $63,638.04 in expenditures that need to be reclassified to the proper grant accounts.

It is anticipated that some or all of these funds will be reclassified to active grants, providing arange of unrequested
reimbursements between $171,782.56 and $235,420.60. Our procedures also identified $171,752.23 in
reimbursements received that do not have a coresponding general ledger expenditure recorded in the grants fund.
The majority ofthese funds represent expenditures recorded in the general fund that were not properly reclassified
to the grants fund.

Grant was underspent by $5,553.64, the project was closed with an unused grant balance. We noted additional general
ledger expenditures recorded to this project totaling $59,602.50, these funds are belidved to be related to grant 202 I I t 32 *
Title I. Management will need to review these expenditures and make any necessary adjustments to record and request these
funds under the appropriate grant, or reclassify the expenditures as general fund expenditures, as appropriate.

92562 - Preschool

Grant was underspent by $41.03, the project was closed with an unused grant balance. We noted the general ledger reflects
expenditures in this amount, and general ledger expenditures in total agreed to the NH DOE budget for this grant.
Management did not note an explanation for the unreimbursed amounts.

2 02 03 2 7 2 - P re- Engi neer ing

We noted that funds received for this grant in the amount of $ 15,000.00 agrees to the budgeted funds per NH DOE. No
expenditure was recorded in the grants fund for this grant. Upon further review the $ I 5,000.00 was recorded as a reduction
to accounts payable, and a general ledger adjustment is necessary to reclassify this amount to the proper expenditure account.

20203449 - Robotics

NH DOE grant budget of $11,465.00 agrees to recorded general ledger expenditures for this grant, and to total funding
received. No exceptions noted.

,SP.SRF 1

Funds received for this grant in the amount of $1 10,200.00 agree with the total grant budget per NH DOE. The expenditures
for this grant were originally recorded in the general fund. An adjusting entry was made to remove these expenditures from
the general fund, but a corresponding entry was not made to record the expenditures in the grants fund. Management will
need to ensure that this entry is completed.

^SPSRF2

Funds received for this grant in the amount of $6,465.69 agree with the total grant budget per NH DOE. The expenditures
for this grant are currently recorded in the general fund. An adjusting entry is required to remove these expenditures from
the general fund and record the expenditures in the grants fund. Management will need to ensure that these entries are
completed.



lltilton-Lynde boro ugh School District
fuly 23,2021
Page I

August 31, 2021 Period of Performance

2021 I 132 - Title I

September 30, 2021 Period of Performance

20 I 903 32 - Title IIA

There are no expenditures recorded under this grant. $40,086.54 has been received of the $97,992.64 budget per the NH
DOE. As noted in grant 20200146 - Title I management has indicated that the $59,062.50 in excess expenditures should
be reclassified to the 20211132 - Title I grant. Managernent should verifu that this is the correct entry. The period of
performance for this grant ends on August 31,2021, management has until that time to obligate the appropriate amount of
expenditures, which range from $38,930.14 to $97,992.64, depending on the analysis and adjustment related to the excess

expenditures recorded in grant 2020146 - Title l.

Recorded general ledger expenditures of $30,617.98 exceed the NH DOE budget of $28,605.49 by 52,012.49. These excess

expenditures should be reviewed and charged against eligible future Title IIA grants or reclassified to the general fund, as

appropriate.

20190462 -Title IVA

NH DOE grant budget of $14,757.38 agrees to recorded general ledger expenditures forthis grant, and to total funding
received. No exceptions noted.

92562 - IDEA

Recorded general ledger expenditures of $203,414.58 exceed NH DOE grant budget of $200,851.33 by $2,563.05. These

excess expenditures should be reviewed and charged against eligible future IDEA grants or reclassified to the general fund,
as appropriate. An unrequested reimbursement of $4,365.72 exists for this grant, which should be reviewed and requested.

20651 - Preschool

NH DOE grant budget of$2385. I 5 agrees to recorded general ledger expenditures for this grant, and to total funding received.
No exceptions noted.

95668 - Remote Learning

Recorded general ledger expenditures of $5,960.00 are within the NH DOE grant budget of $6,000.00 for this grant.
Management has until September 30,2021 to obligate the remaining $40.00 of funding available under this grant.

20200462 -Title IVA

Recorded general ledger expenditures of $13,304.79 are within the NH DOE grant budget of $16,677.52 for this grant.

Management has until September 30,2021 to obligate the remaining $3,372.43 of funding available under this grant. An
unrequested reimbursement of $3,818.24 exists for this grant, which should be reviewed and requested.

20200032 - Title llA

Recorded general ledger expenditures of $26,138.25 are within the NH DOE grant budget of $31,456.04 for this grant.
Management has until September 30, 2021 to obligate the remainin g $5,317 .79 of funding available under this grant. A
portion of the remaining expenditures, up to $2,012.4:9 may already be obligated, but recorded under the wrong grant,
20 I 903 32 - Title IIA. Management should review both grants and make adjustments as appropriate.

202s84 - IDEA

Recorded general ledger expenditures of $191,051.34 are within the NH DOE grant budget of $191,169.84 for this grant.

Management has until September 30,2021to obligate the remaining $118.50 of funding available under this grant. An
unrequested reimbursement of $13,121.98 exists for this grant, which should be reviewed and requested.



lltilto n-Lynde bo ro ug It S c hoo I D istrict
July 23,2021
Page 9

202584 - Preschool

Recorded general ledger expenditures of $2,755.18 are within the NH DOE grant budget of $4,060.51 for this grant.
Management has until September 30,2021to obligate the remaining $1,305,33 of funding available under this grant. An
unrequested reimbursement of $241.86 exists for this grant, which should be reviewed and requested.

September 30, 2022 Period of Performance

202 1840 - rpEA

Recorded general ledger expenditures of 5122,687 .69 are within the NH DOE grant budget of $ 191 ,770.84 for this grant.
Management has until September 30,2022 to obligate the remaining $69,083.15 of funding available under this grant. An
unrequested reimbursement of $122,687.69 exists for this grant, which should be reviewed and requested. No reimbursement
requests have been made for this grant whose period of performance began Augusr2l,2019.

2021840 - Preschool

Recorded general ledger expenditures of $607.19 are within the NH DOE grant budget of $2,141.00 for this grant.
Management has until September 30, 2022 to obligate the remaining $ I,533.81 of funding available under this grant. An
unrequested reimbursement of $607.l9 exists for this grant, which should be reviewed and requested. No reimbursement
requests have been made for this grant whose period of performance began August2l,2019.

Unassigned - Title IVA

Grant application needs to be completed for this grant.

Unassigned - Title IIA

Grant application needs to be completed for this grant. A partially approved budget of $7,29L 1 I has been awarded by NH
DOE for this grant.

Unassigned - Cqres ESSER l
Recorded general ledger expenditures of $26,939.88 are within the NH DOE grant budget of $69,774.02 for this grant.
Management has until September 30,2022 to obligate the remaining $42,834.14 of funding available under this grant. An
unrequested reimbursement of $26,939.88 exists for this grant, which should be reviewed and requested.

September 30, 2023 Period of Performance

Unassigned - Cares ESSER 2

No general ledger expenditures have been recorded against the NH DOE grant budget of $$69,746.75. Management has

until September 30,2023 to obligate the funding available under this grant.

We were engaged by Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District to perform this agreed-upon procedures engagement
and conducted our engagement in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. We were not engaged to and did not conduct an examination or review engagement, the objective of which would
be the expression ofan opinion or conclusion, respectively, on evaluating the School District's grant accounting and reporting,
and compliance with ceftain accounting procedures. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion or conclusion. Had we
performed additional procedures, other rnatters might have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

We are required to be independent of Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements related to our agreed-upon procedures engagement.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the members of the School Board and management of the Wilton-
Lyndeborough Cooperative School District and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than those specified
parties.

{
Iuly 23,2021

a I



 

 ACAA  HARASSMENT AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF STUDENTS                     
 
Harassment of students because of age, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, race, creed, color, 

ancestry or national origin, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability, religion or 

economic status is prohibited. Such conduct is a violation of Board policy and may constitute illegal 

discrimination under state and federal laws. 

 

School employees, fellow students, volunteers, visitors to the schools, and other persons with whom 
students may interact in order to pursue or engage in education programs and activities, are required 
to refrain from such conduct. 
 

Harassment and sexual harassment of students by school employees is considered grounds for 

disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. Harassment and sexual harassment of students by 

other students is considered grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including expulsion. The 

Superintendent will determine appropriate sanctions for harassment of students by persons other than 

school employees and students. 

 

A. Harassment 
 
Harassment includes, but is not limited to, verbal abuse and other offensive conduct based 

on of age, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, race, creed, color, ancestry or national 

origin, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability, religion or economic 

status.  Harassment that rises to  the level of physical assault, battery and/or abuse and 

bullying behavior are also addressed Board Policies JICIA- Weapons, Violence and School 

Safety and JICK 

-Bullying. 
 

B. Sexual Harassment 
 
Sexual harassment is addressed under federal and state laws/regulations. The     scope and 

definitions of sexual harassment under these laws differ, as described below. 

 

1. Title IX Sexual Harassment 
 

Under the federal Title IX regulations, sexual harassment includes the following  conduct on 

the basis of sex which takes place within the context of the school district's education 

programs and activities: 

 
a. "Quid pro quo" sexual harassment by a school employee: Conditioning a school 

aid, benefit or service (such as a better grade or a college recommendation) on an 

individual's participation in unwelcome sexual conduct; 

b. "Hostile environment" sexual harassment: Unwelcome conduct based on sex that a 

reasonable person would determine is so severe, pervasive and objectively 



 

offensive that it effectively denies an individual's equal access to the school unit's 

education programs      and activities; or 

c. Sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence and stalking as these terms are 

defined in federal laws. 

 
2. Other Forms of Sexual Harassment 

 
Some forms of sexual harassment may not meet the definition under Title IX (see paragraph 

1, above) but is still prohibited under New Hampshire law. 

 
The District defines other forms of "sexual harassment" as unwelcome sexual advances, 

requests for sexual favors, and other verbal, non-verbal or physical conduct of a sexual 

nature in the following situations: 

 
a. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or 

condition of a student's educational benefits; 

b. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by a student is used as the basis for 

decisions on educational benefits; or 

c. Such conduct has the purpose and effect of substantially interfering      with a student's 

academic performance or creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive 

environment. 

 

C. Reports and Complaints of Harassment or Sexual Harassment 
 

All school employees are required to report possible incidents of harassment or sexual 

harassment involving students to the Title IX Coordinator. Failure to report such incidents 

may result in disciplinary action. 

 

Students, parents/legal guardians and other individuals are strongly encouraged to report 

possible incidents of harassment or sexual harassment involving students to the Title IX 

Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator is also available to answer questions and provide 

assistance to any individual who is unsure whether harassment or sexual harassment has 

occurred. 

 
All reports and complaints of harassment or sexual harassment against students shall be 

addressed through the Student Unlawful Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual 

Harassment Procedures (ACAA- R). 

 
 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) (29 U.S.C. §794 et seq., as 
amended; 34 C.F.R. § 104.7) 
Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 USC§ 1681, et seq.); 34 C.F.R. Part 



 

106 
Clery Act (20 U.S.C. §1092(f)(6)(A)(v) - definition of sexual assault) 
Violence Against Women Act (34 U.S.C. § 1092(f)(6)(A)(v) - definition of sexual 

assault; 34 U.S.C. § 12291(a)(l0) - dating violence; 34 U.S.C. §12291(a)(3) - 

definition of stalking; 34 U.S.C. §12291(a)(8) - definition of domestic violence) 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC § 2000d)  NH RSA 186:11; 193:38; 

193:39; 354-A NH Code Admin. R. Ed. 303.0l(i) and (j) 

 
Cross Reference: 

ACAA-R - Student Unlawful Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual 

Harassment Complaint Procedures 

AC- Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action ACAD - Hazing 

GBEB - Staff Conduct with Students 
JFCK - Student Use of Cellular Telephones and Other Electronic 

Devices JICIA - Weapons, Violence and School Safety 
JICK - Bullying 

 
 
 

First Reading:  July 13, 2021 
Second Reading:   
Final Adoption:   

 



 

ACAA-R  STUDENT DISCRIMINATION/HARASSMENT AND TITLE IX 
SEXUAL HARASSMENT COMPLAINT PROCEDURES                     
 
 

[Note to Local Boards: This document has been substantially revised due to the requirements in 
the new Title IX sexual harassment regulations that become effective on August 14, 2020. The 
definition of sexual harassment in the Title IX regulations has been narrowed and the regulations 
require a more formal procedure than local Boards have generally used to address 
discrimination/harassment complaints. At the same time, local Boards still need to comply with 
other federal and state laws/regulations governing discrimination and harassment, in addition to 
Title IX. For these reasons, we have structured this document in three sections: 

 
A. Section l provides the definitions used in the complaint procedures; 

B. Section 2 sets out the general discrimination/harassment complaint procedure to address 
complaints of all forms of discrimination/harassment, except for those involving Title IX 
sexual harassment. This is very similar to the procedure school districts have  used in the 
past; and 

C. Section 3 The third section sets out is the new Title IX sexual harassment complaint 
procedure. 

 
Local school districts have the option of addressing all discrimination/ harassment complaints 
through the Title IX procedure if they wish and deleting Section 2. However, we suggest that 
local Boards carefully consider this option, as it means that all complaints will need to be 
addressed through a more formal process than school districts have customarily used. 

 
Please note that in previous versions of this sample, the designation of employees to be notified of 
discrimination/harassment complaints and who are responsible for various actions, has been 
left largely to the discretion of the school district. The Title IX regulations require that the 
individual designated as the Title IX Coordinator be responsible for addressing all Title IX 
complaints. Because it can be difficult to assess which law and regulations a complaint should be 
addressed under, we recommend that a combined Human Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator be 
the individual to receive all discrimination/harassment complaints and to determine the 
appropriate procedure to use in specific cases. Assessing complaints, and deciding which 
policy/procedure is appropriate to address them is complex and requires comprehensive 
training for Human Rights Officers/Title IX Coordinators. 
 

Any proposed changes to these procedures should be reviewed with legal counsel prior to 
adoption to ensure compliance with legal requirements.] 

 
The Board has adopted these student procedures in order to provide prompt and equitable 

resolution of reports and complaints of unlawful discrimination and harassment of students, 

including sexual harassment, as described in policies AC - Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity 

and Human Rights and ACAA - Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students. 

 



 

Complaints alleging harassment or discrimination against employees or third parties based on a 

protected status should be addressed through the Board's Employee & Third Party 

Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures (ACAB-R). 

 
[Note to Local Boards: We refer to a combined Human Rights 
Officer/Title IX Coordinator in this sample.] 

 
Any individual who is unsure about whether unlawful discrimination or harassment has occurred 

and/or or which complaint procedure applies is encouraged to contact the Human Rights Officer 

(or HRO)/Title IX Coordinator. 

 

[INSERT FULL HRO/TITLE IX COORDINATOR INFORMATION HERE: 
NAME, TITLE 

PHYSICAL ADDRESS  
TELEPHONE NUMBER 

EMAIL ADDRESS] 

 

Section 1. Definitions 
For purposes of these complaint procedures, the following definitions will be used. The Human 

Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator shall assess all reports and complaints to ensure that they are 

addressed under the appropriate policy and complaint procedure. 

 
A. Discrimination/Harassment Complaint Procedure Definitions 

 
1. "Discrimination or harassment": Discrimination or harassment on the basis of an individual's 

membership in a protected category, which, for students, includes age, sex, gender identity, 

sexual orientation, race, creed, color, ancestry or national origin, marital status, familial 

status, physical or mental disability, religion or economic status are prohibited. 

 

2. "Discrimination": Treating individuals differently, or interfering with or preventing them 
from enjoying the advantages or privileges afforded to others because of their membership in a 
protected category. 
 

3. "Harassment": Oral, written, graphic, electronic or physical conduct relating to an individual's 
actual or perceived membership in a protected category that is sufficiently severe, pervasive or 
persistent so as to interfere with or limit that individual's ability to participate in the school 
district's programs or activities by creating a hostile, intimidating or offensive environment. 

 
4. Other forms of "sexual harassment": this means unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual 

favors, and other verbal, non-verbal or           physical conduct of a sexual nature in the following situations: 
 

a. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or  condition of a 
student's educational benefits; 



 

b. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by a student is used as  the basis for decisions on 
educational benefits; or 

c. Such conduct has the purpose and effect of substantially interfering        with a student's academic 
performance or creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive environment. 

 
5. "Sexual orientation": Under New Hampshire law, this means, "having or being perceived as 

having an orientation for heterosexuality, bisexuality, or homosexuality." 

 
6. "Gender identity": Under New Hampshire law, this means "a person's gender-related identity, 

appearance, or behavior, whether or not that gender-related identity, appearance, or behavior is 
different from that traditionally associated with the person's physiology or assigned sex at birth." 

 
7. "Complaint" is defined as an allegation that a student has been discriminated against or harassed 

on the basis of race, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, ancestry, national 
origin or disability (and not otherwise addressed in the Title IX regulations and Section 3 of 
ACAA-R). 

 

8. Complaints of bullying not involving the protected categories or definitions described above may be 
addressed under Board Policy JICK- Bullying and Cyberbullying of Students. 

 
B. Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedure Definitions 

 
1. "Sexual Harassment": Under the federal Title IX regulations, sexual harassment includes 

the following conduct on the basis of sex which  takes place within the context of the school 

district's education programs and activities: 

 
a. "Quid pro quo" sexual harassment by a school employee: Conditioning a school aid, 

benefit or service (such as a better grade      or a college recommendation) on an individual's 

participation in unwelcome sexual conduct; 

b. "Hostile environment" sexual harassment: Unwelcome conduct based on sex that a 

reasonable person would determine is so severe, pervasive and objectively offensive that 

it effectively denies  an individual's equal access to the school district's education programs 

and activities; or 

c. Sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence and stalking as  these terms are defined in 

federal laws. 

 
2. "Report": Under the Title IX regulations, any individual may make a report of sexual 

harassment involving a student, whether the individual is the alleged victim or not. School 

employees are required to report possible incidents of sexual harassment involving a student. 

A report must be made to the Human Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator.  A report triggers 

certain actions by the HRO/Title IX Coordinator for the alleged victim of sexual harassment, 

but an investigation is not conducted unless a "Formal Complaint" (as defined below) is filed. 

 



 

3. "Formal Complaint": Under the Title IX regulations, the alleged victim of sexual 

harassment can file a written complaint that triggers the complaint procedure in Section 3 of  

ACAA-R.  Only a student and/or their parent/legal guardian (and in certain circumstances, 

the HRO/Title IX Coordinator) may file a formal complaint. 

 
4. "Student": For the purposes of this procedure, a student an individual who is enrolled or 

participating in the school district's education programs and activities, or is attempting to 

enroll or participate. 

 
Section 2. Unlawful Discrimination / Harassment Complaint  Procedure 

 
[Note to Local Boards: This procedure generally tracks the procedure in 

earlier versions of ACAA-R, with some adjustments in an effort to minimize 

differences, where possible, between this complaint procedure and the Title 

IX sexual harassment complaint procedure in Section 3.] 

 
This procedure should be used for any complaint of unlawful harassment or discrimination complaint 

based on a protected category which does not involve Title IX sexual harassment. 

 
A. How to Make A Complaint 

 
1. School employees are required to promptly make a report to the HRO/Title IX Coordinator if 

they have reason to believe that a student  has been discriminated against or harassed. 

 
2. Students (and others) who believe that they, or another student has been harassed or 

discriminated against should report their concern promptly to the HRO/Title IX Coordinator, 

or to the building principal (who will report the matter to the HRO/Title IX Coordinator). 

 
3. The individual making the report must provide basic information in writing concerning the 

allegation of harassment or discrimination {i.e., date, time, location, individual(s) who alleged 

engaged in harassment or discrimination, description of allegation) to the HRO/Title IX 

Coordinator. 

 
4. If an individual is unsure as to whether unlawful discrimination or harassment has occurred, or 

who need assistance in preparing a written complaint, they are encouraged to discuss the 

matter with the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. 

 
5. Individuals will not be retaliated against for reporting suspected discrimination or harassment, 

or for participating in an investigation. Retaliation is illegal under federal and state 

nondiscrimination laws, and any retaliation will result in disciplinary action, up to and 

including discharge for employees, and expulsion for students. 

 
6. Individuals are encouraged to utilize the school district's complaint procedure. However, 



 

individuals are hereby notified that they also have the right to report incidents of discrimination 

or harassment to the New Hampshire Commission for Human Rights, 2 Industrial Park Drive, 

Concord, NH 03301,, and/or to the federal Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of Education, 5 

Post Office Square, 8th Floor, Boston, MA 02109-3921 (telephone: 617-289-0111). 

 
B. Complaint Handling and Investigation 

 
1. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator will promptly inform the Superintendent and the person who is the 

subject of the complaint (respondent) that a complaint has been received. 
 

2. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator may pursue an informal resolution of the complaint with the 
agreement of the parties involved. Any party to the              complaint may decide to end the informal 
resolution process and pursue the formal process at any point. Any informal resolution is subject to 
the approval of the parties and the Superintendent, who shall consider whether the resolution is in 
the best interest of the school district and the parties in light of the particular circumstances and 
applicable policies and laws. 

 
3. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator may implement supportive measures to a student to reduce the risk of 

further discrimination or harassment to a student while an investigation is pending. Examples of 
supportive measures include, but are not limited to ordering no contact between the individuals’ 
involved or changing classes. 

 
4. The complaint will be investigated by a trained internal or external individual designated by the 

Superintendent and the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. Any complaint about an employee who holds a 
supervisory position shall be investigated by a person who is not subject to that supervisor's 
authority. Any complaint about the Superintendent should be submitted to the Chair of the Board, 
who   should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation of the 
complaint. 

 
5. The investigator shall consult with the HRO/Title IX Coordinator as  agreed during the investigation 

process. 
 

6. The respondent will be provided with an opportunity to be heard as part of the investigation. The 
complainant shall not be required to attend meetings with the respondent, but may choose to do so 
as part       of an informal resolution process. 

 
7. The complainant and the respondent may suggest witnesses to be interviewed and/or submit 

materials they believe are relevant to the complaint. 
 

8. If the complaint is against an employee of the school district, any rights conferred under an 
applicable collective bargaining agreement shall be applied. 

 
9. Privacy rights of all parties to the complaint shall be maintained in accordance with 

applicable state and federal laws. 



 

 
10. The investigation shall be completed within 40 calendar [or business] days of receiving the 

complaint, if practicable. Reasonable extensions of time for good reason shall be allowed. 
 

11. The investigator shall provide a written report and findings to the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. 
 

C. Findings and Subsequent Actions 
 

1. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator shall consult with the Superintendent concerning the investigation 
and findings. 

 
2. If there is a finding that discrimination or harassment occurred, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator, in 

consultation with the Superintendent shall: 
 

• Determine what remedial action, if any, is required to end the discrimination or harassment, 
remedy its effect and prevent recurrence; and 

• Determine what disciplinary action should be taken against the individual(s) who engaged in 
discrimination or harassment, if any. 

 
3. Inform the complainant and the respondent in writing of the results of the investigation and its 

resolution (in accordance with applicable state and federal privacy laws). 
 

D. Appeals 
 

1. After the conclusion of the investigation, the complainant or respondent may seek an appeal of the 
findings solely on the basis of  either: (a) prejudicial procedural error or (b) the discovery of 
previously unavailable relevant evidence that could significantly impact the outcome. 

 
2. Appeals must be submitted in writing to the Superintendent within five     calendar [or business] 

days after receiving notice of the resolution. 
 

3. Upon receipt of a valid appeal, the Superintendent shall provide notice  to the other party, along 
with an opportunity to provide a written statement within five calendar [business] days. 

 
4. The Superintendent shall review the available documentation and may         conduct further 

investigation if deemed appropriate. 
 

5. The Superintendent's decision on the appeal shall be provided to the parties within 10 
calendar [or business] days, if practicable. The Superintendent's decision shall be final. 

 
[The Board should decide whether to allow appeals of the 

Superintendent's decisions to the Board. We recommend discussing this 

option with legal counsel before drafting such language.] 

 
E. Records 



 

 
The HRO/Title IX Coordinator shall keep a written record of the complaint             process. 

 

Section 3. Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedure 
 

This section should be used for complaints of as defined in Section 1.B.1. 
 

A. How to Make A Report 
 

1. School employees who have reason to believe that a student has been subjected to sexual 
harassment is required to promptly make a report to the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. 

 
2. Students, parents/legal guardians or other individuals who believe a student has been sexually 

harassed are encouraged to make a report to the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. 

 

3. If the individual making the report is the alleged victim, or if the alleged victim is identified 
by the individual making the report, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator will meet with the alleged 
victim to discuss supportive measures that may be appropriate in the particular 
circumstances and explain the process for filing a formal complaint. 

 
a. Supportive measures are individualized measures designed to ensure the student can 

continue to access educational programs and activities (such as requiring no contact 
between individuals or changing classes). 

b. Supportive measures may be continued even if the alleged victim chooses not to file a 
formal complaint, if appropriate under the particular circumstances. 

 
4. The school district cannot provide an informal resolution process for resolving a report unless a 

formal complaint is filed. 

 
5. Individuals will not be retaliated against for reporting sexual harassment, or for participating in 

an investigation. Retaliation is illegal               under federal and state nondiscrimination laws, and any 
retaliation will result in disciplinary actions, up to and including discharge for employees, or 
expulsion for students. 

 
6. Any student (or their parent/legal guardian) who believes they have been the victim of sexual 

harassment is encouraged to utilize the school   district's complaint procedure. However, 
students (and their parents/legal guardians} are hereby notified that they also have the right to 
report sexual harassment to the New Hampshire Commission for Human Rights, 2 Industrial 
Park Drive, Concord, NH 03301 and/or to the federal Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of 
Education, 5 Post Office Square, 8th Floor, Boston, MA 02109-3921 (telephone: 617-289- 0111). 

 
7. The Superintendent shall be informed of all reports and formal complaints of sexual 

harassment. 
 

B. How to Make A Formal Complaint 



 

 
1. An alleged student victim and/or their parent/legal guardian may file a formal written 

complaint requesting investigation of alleged Title IX sexual harassment. The written 
complaint must include basic information concerning the allegation of sexual harassment 
(i.e., date, time, location, individual(s} who allegedly engaged in sexual harassment, 
description of allegation, etc.}. 

 

Students who need assistance in preparing a formal written complaint are encouraged to 
consult with the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. 

 
2. In certain circumstances, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator may file a formal complaint even 

when the alleged victim chooses not to. Examples include if the respondent (person alleged 

to have engaged in sexual harassment) has been found responsible for previous sexual 

harassment or there is a safety threat within the school district. In such    cases, the alleged 

victim is not a party to the case, but will receive notices as required by the Title IX 

regulations at specific points in the complaint process. 

 
3. In accordance with the Title IX regulations, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator  must 

dismiss a formal complaint if: a} the conduct alleged in the formal complaint does not 

constitute sexual harassment under the Title IX regulations and this policy; orb) if the 

conduct alleged did not occur within the scope of the school district's education 

programs and activities, or c) did not occur in the United States. 

 
4. In accordance with the Title IX regulations, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator       may dismiss 

a formal complaint if: a) a complainant  withdraws the formal complaint, or withdraws 

particular allegations  within the complaint; b) the respondent  is no longer  employed 

by or enrolled in the school district; or c) there are specific circumstances  that prevent 

the school district from gathering evidence sufficient to reach a determination 

regarding the formal complaint. 

 
5. If a formal complaint is dismissed under this procedure, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator will 

promptly and simultaneously send written notices to the parties explaining the reasons. 

Parties have the opportunity to appeal dismissals in accordance with subsection I below. 

 
6. If the conduct alleged in a formal complaint potentially violates other laws,         Board policies  

and/or professional expectations, the school district may address the conduct under the 

applicable policy/procedure. 

 
C. Emergency Removal or Administrative Leave 

 
1. The Superintendent may remove a student respondent from education       programs and 

activities on an emergency basis during the complaint procedure: 

 
a. If there is a determination (following an individualized safety and risk analysis) that 



 

there is an immediate threat to the physical health or safety of an individual arising from 
the allegations of sexual harassment. Examples of such circumstances might include, but 
are not limited to, a continued threat of violence against a complainant by a respondent, 
or a respondent's threat of self-harm due to the allegations. 

 
b. The respondent (and their parent/legal guardian) will be provided notice of the 

emergency removal, and will be provided an opportunity to challenge the decision 
following the removal (this is an opportunity to be heard, not a hearing). The respondent 
has the burden to demonstrate why the emergency removal was unreasonable. 

 
2. The Superintendent may place an employee respondent on administrative leave during the 

complaint procedure in accordance with any applicable State laws, school policies and 
collective bargaining agreement provisions. 

3. Any decision to remove a respondent from education programs and activities on an emergency 
basis or place an employee on administrative leave shall be made in compliance with any 
applicable disability laws, including the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, Section 504 
of the Rehabilitation Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

 
D. Notice to Parties of Formal Complaint 

 
1. The Title IX Coordinator will provide to the parties written notice of the formal complaint and 

allegations of sexual harassment potentially constituting prohibited conduct under the Title IX 
regulations and this procedure. The notice shall include: 

 
 Notice regarding the complaint procedure and the availability of an informal resolution 

process; 

 Sufficient details known at the time (including identities of parties, if known; the conduct 
alleged; and the date and location            of the alleged incident, if known), with sufficient time 
to prepare before any initial interview (not less than five calendar [or business] days). 
As required by the Title IX regulations, a statement that the respondent is presumed not 

responsible for the alleged conduct and that a determination of responsibility will be made 

at the conclusion of the complaint); and that the parties may inspect and review 

evidence; 

 Notice that the parties may each have an advisor of their choice (who may be an 

attorney), and that the parties may inspect and review evidence; 

 Notice that knowingly making false statements or submitting false information during 

the complaint process is prohibited and may result in disciplinary action; 

 Notice of the name of the investigator, with sufficient time (no less than three calendar 

[or business] days) to raise concerns of conflict of interest or bias. 

 
2. If additional allegations become known at a later time, notice of the additional allegations 

will be provided to the parties. 

 



 

3. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator will discuss supportive measures with each party and 

implement such measures as appropriate. 

 
E. Informal Resolution Process 

 
After a formal complaint has been filed, and if the HRO/Title IX Coordinator believes the 

circumstances are appropriate, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator may offer the parties the 

opportunity to participate in an informal resolution process to resolve the complaint without 

completing the investigation and determination process. Informal resolutions cannot be used to 

resolve a formal complaint where a student is the complainant and the respondent is an 

employee. 

 
Informal resolutions can take many forms, depending on the particular case. Examples include, 

but are not limited to, facilitated discussions between the parties; restorative justice; 

acknowledgment of responsibility by a respondent; apologies; disciplinary actions against a 

respondent or a requirement to engage in specific services; or supportive measures. Both 

parties must voluntarily agree in writing to participate in an informal resolution process, and 

either party can withdraw from the process at any time. The Superintendent must agree to the 

terms of any informal resolution reached between the parties. If an informal resolution 

agreement is reached, it must be signed by both parties and the school district. Any such signed 

agreement is final and binding according to its terms. 

 

If an informal resolution process does not resolve the formal complaint, nothing from the informal 
resolution process may be considered as evidence in the subsequent investigation or 
determination. 
 

F. Investigation 
 

1. The complaint will be investigated by a trained internal or external individual designated by the 
Superintendent and HRO/Title IX Coordinator. Any complaint about an employee who holds 
a supervisory position shall be investigated by a person who is not subject to that supervisor's 
authority. Any complaint about the Superintendent should be submitted to the Chair of the 
Board, who            should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation of the 
complaint. 

 
2. The investigator shall consult with the HRO/Title IX Coordinator as agreed during the 

investigation process. 
 

3. If the complaint is against an employee of the school district, rights conferred under an 
applicable collective bargaining agreement shall be            applied, to the extent they do not conflict 
with the Title IX regulatory requirements. 

 
4. Privacy rights of all parties to the complaint shall be maintained in accordance with applicable 

state and federal laws. 



 

 
5. The investigator will: 

 
a. Meet with each party after they have received appropriate notice of any meeting and its 

purpose, with sufficient time to prepare. 
 

b. Allow parties to have their advisor at all meetings related to the complaint, although advisors 
may not speak on behalf of a party or interfere with the process. 

 
c. Allow parties a reasonable opportunity to identify witnesses and submit favorable and 

unfavorable evidence. 
 

d. Interview witnesses and conduct such other activities that will assist in ascertaining facts (site 
visits, review of documents, etc.). 

 
e. Consider evidence that is relevant and directly related to the allegations in the formal 

complaint. 
 

f. During the course of the investigation, provide both parties with an equal opportunity to 
inspect and review any evidence that is obtained in the investigation that is directly 
related to the allegations in the formal complaint (including evidence which the                   school 
district does not intend to rely upon in reaching a determination of responsibility), and 
favorable and unfavorable evidence. 

 
g. Prior to completion of the investigation report, provide each party and advisor (if any) the 

evidence subject to inspection and review, and provide the parties with ten calendar [or 
business] days to submit a written response. 

 
h. Consider the parties' written responses to the evidence prior to  completing the 

investigation report. 
 

i. Create an investigative report that fairly summarizes relevant evidence and send the report 
to the parties and advisors (if any), for their review. The Parties may submit written 
responses to the report within ten calendar [or business] days of receipt. 

 
j. After receipt of the parties' written responses (if any), forward the investigation report and 

party responses to the assigned decision maker. 
 

6. The investigation shall be concluded within 40 calendar [or business] days if practicable. 
Reasonable extension of time for good reason shall          be allowed. 

 
G. Determination of Responsibility 

 
[Note to Local Boards: The decision maker cannot be the investigator or 

Title IX Coordinator, and must receive specific training. If appeals are to 



 

be heard by the Superintendent, the Board should determine if they wish 

to use particular upper-level administrators as decision makers.] 

 
1. The decision maker shall provide the parties with the opportunity to submit written, relevant 

questions that the party wants asked of another party or witness within five calendar [or business] 
days of when the decision maker received the investigation report and party responses. 

 

a. The decision maker shall explain to a party proposing questions  if the decision maker 
excludes a question as not relevant. 

 
2. Each party shall be provided the opportunity to review the responses of another party and/or 

witness, and to ask limited written follow-up questions within five calendar [or business] days 
of receiving the answers. 

 
3. Each party will receive a copy of the responses to any follow-up questions. 

 
4. The decision maker shall review the investigation report, the parties' responses and other 

relevant materials, applying the preponderance of the evidence standard ("more likely than 
not"). [Note to Local Boards: School districts can use the clear and convincing standard, but 
we recommend retaining the preponderance standard that school districts use in most other 
cases.] 

 
5. The decision maker shall issue a written determination, which shall include the following: 

 
a. Identification of all the allegations potentially constituting sexual harassment as defined in 

the Title IX regulations and this policy; 
 

b. A description of the procedural steps taken from receipt of the formal complaint through 
the determination, including notifications to the parties, interviews with parties and 
witnesses, site visits, methods used to gather other evidence, and meetings held; 

 
c. A determination regarding responsibility as to each allegation and           findings of fact 

supporting the determinations; 
 

d. A statement of, and rationale for, the result as to each allegation, including a determination 
regarding responsibility, any disciplinary  sanctions the school district imposes on the 
respondent, and whether remedies designed to restore or preserve equal access to  the school 
district's programs and activities will be provided to the complainant; 

 

e. The school district's appeal procedure and permissible bases for the parties to appeal the 
determination. 

 

6. The written determination shall be provided to the parties simultaneously. The 

determination concerning responsibility becomes final either on the date that the school 



 

district provides the parties with the written determination of the results of the appeal, if 

an appeal is filed, or if an appeal is not filed, the date on which the appeal would no longer 

be considered timely. 

 
H. Remedies, Discipline and Other Actions 

 

[Note to Local School Boards: The Title IX regulations require school districts to provide 

a "range," not an exhaustive list, of measures that would be used to ensure the 

complainant's equal access to the school district's programs and activities. Likewise, local 

Boards must include a "range" of disciplinary sanctions that may be imposed. The 

examples below can revised to meet local needs.] 

 
1. Remedies 

 
Remedies are measures used to ensure that the complainant has equal access to the school 

district's education programs and activities following the decision maker's determination. 

Such remedies may include supportive measures, and may include other appropriate measures, 

depending upon the determination and the needs of the complainant. The  Title IX Coordinator 

is responsible  for  implementing remedies and providing any needed assistance to the 

Complainant. 

 
2. Discipline and Other Actions - Students 

 
The following are of the types of discipline and other actions that may be     imposed on a student 

when there is a determination that they are responsible for one or more violations involving 

sexual harassment: 

 
• In or out of school suspension. 

• Expulsion. 

• Restorative justice. 

• Requirement to engage in education or counseling program. 
 

3. Discipline and Other Actions - Employees 
 

The following are examples of the types of disciplinary actions that may be      imposed on an 

employee when there is a determination that they are responsible for one or more violations 

involving sexual harassment: 

• Written warning. 
• Probation. 

• Demotion. 
• Suspension without pay. 

• Discharge. 

 



 

The following are examples of other types of actions that may be imposed on an employee when 
there is a determination of responsibility: 

• Performance improvement plan. 
• Counseling. 

• Training. 
• Loss of leadership/stipend position. 
 
 

I. Appeals 
 

[Note to Local Boards: The person hearing an appeal cannot be the decision maker, 

investigator or HRO/Title IX Coordinator. Generally, we       recommend that the Superintendent 

be the one to consider appeals, so another individual will need to be the decision maker in 

that case.] 

 
The parties have the opportunity to appeal a determination regarding responsibility, and from 
dismissals of formal complaints. Under the Title IX                 regulations, appeals are allowed on the following 
grounds: 

 
1. A procedural irregularity that affected the outcome of the matter; 

 
2. New evidence that was not reasonably available at the time the determination regarding 

responsibility or dismissal of the formal complaint was made, that could affect the outcome 
of the matter;               or 

 
3. The Title IX Coordinator, investigator, or decision maker had a conflict of interest or bias for 

or against complainants or respondents generally, or the individual complainant or 
respondent                that affected the outcome of the matter. 

 

An appeal must be filed in writing within five calendar [or business] days of receiving the 
determination, stating the grounds for the appeal and including any relevant documentation in 
support of the appeal. Appeals submitted after this deadline are not timely and shall not be 
considered  

1. Appeals must be filed with the Superintendent, who will consider  the appeal. 
 

2. The Superintendent shall notify the other party in writing of the appeal and will allow 

both parties to submit a written statement in support of, or challenging, the 

determination of the decision maker. 

 
3. The Superintendent shall conduct an impartial review of the appeal,       including 

consideration of the written record of the matter, and may consult with legal counsel 

or other school district officials in making their decision. 

 



 

4. The Superintendent shall issue a written decision describing the result of the appeal and 

rationale for the result, and provide the written decision simultaneously to the parties. 

The decision will        either deny the appeal; grant the appeal and remand to the decision 

maker for further consideration; or grant the appeal by        revising the disciplinary or other 

action(s). 

 
J. Records 

 
Records in connection with sexual harassment reports and the complaint process shall be 

maintained for a minimum of seven years. 
 
 

Legal Reference: 

Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq., as amended; 28 C.F.R. § 35.107) 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) (29 U.S.C. § 
794 et seq., as amended; 34 C.F.R. § 104.7) 

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 USC§ 1681, et seq.);  34 C.F.R. Part 106 
Clery Act (20 U.S.C. §1092(f)(6)(A)(v) - definition of sexual assault) 
Violence Against Women Act (34 U.S.C. § 1092(f)(6)(A)(v) - definition of sexual assault; 34 

U.S.C. § 12291(a)(10) - dating violence; 34 U.S.C. §12291(a)(3) - definition of stalking; 34 

U.S.C. §12291(a)(8) - definition of domestic violence) 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC § 2000d) RSA 186:11; 193:38-39; and 354-A 
NH Code Admin. R. Ed. 303.0l(i) and U) 

 
Cross Reference: 

ACAA-R- Student Unlawful Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment 

Complaint Procedures 

AC- Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity and Human Rights ACAD - Hazing 

GBEB -Staff Conduct with Students 
JFCK- Student Use of Cellular Telephones and Other Electronic Devices  

JICIA - Weapons, Violence and School Safety 

JICK - Bullying 
 

 
 

  
First Reading:  July 13, 2021 
Second Reading:   
Final Adoption:   

 



 

 ACAB   HARASSMENT AND SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF SCHOOL EMPLOYEES         
 

Harassment of school employees because of sex, gender identity, sexual orientation,  race, creed, 

color, ancestry  or  national origin, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability, 

religion, or genetic information are prohibited. Such conduct is a violation of Board policy and may 

constitute illegal discrimination under state and federal laws. 

 
Any employee who engages in harassment or sexual harassment shall be subject to disciplinary action, 

up to and including discharge. 

 
A. Harassment 

 
Harassment includes, but is not limited to, verbal abuse, threats, physical assault and/or battery based 

on race, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, ancestry or national origin, age, genetic 

information or disability. 

 
B. Sexual Harassment 

 
Sexual harassment is addressed under federal and state laws and regulations. The scope and definitions 

of sexual harassment under these laws differ, as described below. 

 
1. Title IX Sexual Harassment 

 
Under the federal Title IX regulations, sexual harassment includes the following conduct on the basis 

of sex which takes place within the context of the school unit's education programs and activities: 

 

a. "Quid pro quo" sexual harassment by a school employee: Conditioning a school aid, benefit 

or service (such as a promotion or favorable evaluation) on an individual's participation in 

unwelcome sexual conduct; 

b. "Hostile environment" sexual harassment: Unwelcome conduct based on sex that a 

reasonable person would determine is so severe, pervasive and objectively offensive that it 

effectively denies an individual's equal access to the school unit's education programs and 

activities; or 

c. Sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence and stalking as these terms are defined in 

federal laws. 

 
2. Sexual Harassment Under Title VII and New Hampshire Law 

 
Under another federal law, Title VII, and under New Hampshire law/regulations, sexual harassment is 

defined differently. The New Hampshire Commission for Human Rights law states that "[u]nwelcome 

sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal, non-verbal or physical conduct of a 

sexual nature constitutes sexual harassment when: 

 
a) Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an 



 

individual's employment; 

 
b) Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used  as the basis for 

employment decisions affecting such individual; or 

 
c) Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work 

performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment." 

 
C. Reports and Complaints of Harassment or Sexual Harassment 

 
Any employee who believes they have been harassed or sexually harassed is encouraged to make a 

report to the Human Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator. The Human Rights Officer/Title IX 

Coordinator is also available to answer questions and provide assistance to any individual who is 

unsure whether harassment or sexual harassment has occurred. 

 
All reports and complaints regarding harassment or sexual harassment of employees shall be addressed 
through the Employee & Third-Party Unlawful Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual 
Harassment Complaint Procedures (ACAB-R). 

 

Legal References: 

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.); 34 C.F.R. Part 106 
Clery Act (20 U.S.C. §1092(f}(6}(A}(v} - definition of sexual assault} 
Violence Against Women Act (34 U.S.C. § 1092(f}(6}(A}(v} - definition of sexual assault; 34 

U.S.C. § 12291(a}(10) - dating violence; 34 U.S.C.  §12291(a}(3} - definition of stalking; 34 U.S.C. 

§12291(a}(8} - definition of domestic violence} 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d} 
Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C § 12101 et seq.}, as amended Section 504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504} (29 U.S.C. §794 et seq.), as amended 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et. seq.; 29 C.F.R. § 1604.11) 
Age Discrimination in Employment Act (29 U.S.C. § 623 et seq.) 
Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (42 U.S.C. § 2000ff et seq.} RSA 354-A:7 

NH Code Admin. R. Ed. 303.0l(i} and (j} 
 

Cross Reference: 
ACAB-R- Employee & Third-Party Unlawful Discrimination/ Harassment and Title IX Sexual 

Harassment Complaint Procedure  

AC - Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action ACAD - Hazing 

 
 

First Reading:  July 13, 2021 
Second Reading:   
Final Adoption:   

 



 

ACAB-R    EMPLOYEE DISCRIMINATION/HARASSMENT AND TITLE IX 
SEXUAL HARASSMENT COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 

 
 

[Note to Local Boards: This document has been substantially revised due to the requirements in the new 
Title IX sexual harassment regulations that become effective on August 14, 2020. The definition of 
sexual harassment in the Title IX regulations has been narrowed and the regulations require a more 
formal procedure than local Boards have generally used to address discrimination/harassment 
complaints. At the same time, local Boards still need to comply with other federal and state 
laws/regulations governing discrimination and harassment, in addition to Title IX. For these reasons, 
we have structured this document In three sections: 

 
A. Section 1 provides the definitions used in the complaint procedures; 
B. Section 2 sets out the general discrimination/harassment complaint procedure to address 

complaints of all forms of discrimination/harassment, except for those involving Title IX 
sexual harassment. This is very similar to the procedure school districts have used in the past; 
and 

C. Section 3 The third section sets out is the new Title IX sexual harassment complaint procedure. 
 

Local school districts have the option of addressing all discrimination/ harassment complaints 
through the Title IX procedure If they wish and deleting Section 2. However, we suggest that local 
Boards carefully consider this option, as it means that all complaints will need to be addressed 
through a more formal process than school districts have customarily used. 

 
Please note that in previous versions of this sample, the designation of employees to be notified of 
discrimination/harassment complaints and who are responsible for various actions, has been left 
largely to the discretion of the school district. The Title IX regulations require that the individual 
designated as the Title IX Coordinator be responsible for addressing all Title IX complaints. Because 
it can be difficult to assess which law and regulations a complaint should be addressed under, we 
recommend that a combined Human Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator be the Individual to 
receive all discrimination/ harassment complaints and to determine the appropriate procedure to use 
in specific cases. Assessing complaints, and deciding which policy/procedure is appropriate to address 
them, is complex and requires comprehensive training for HRO/Title IX Coordinators. 
 
Any proposed changes to these procedures should be reviewed with legal counsel prior to adoption to 
ensure compliance with legal requirements.] 

 
The Board has adopted these employee procedures in order to provide prompt and equitable 

resolution of employee complaints of discrimination and harassment, including sexual harassment, as 

described in policies AC - Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity and ACAB - Harassment and Sexual 

Harassment of School Employees. 

 
The complaint procedure in Section 2 may also be used, to the extent applicable, by visitors, 

including parents, volunteers and others having lawful access to the schools who wish to make a 

complaint of discrimination or harassment. 



 

 
Complaints alleging harassment or discrimination against students based on a protected category 

should be addressed through the Board's Student Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual 

Harassment Complaint Procedures (ACAA-R). 

[Note: We refer to a combined Human Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator in this sample.] 
 

Any individual who is unsure about whether discrimination or harassment has occurred and/or or 

which complaint procedure applies is encouraged to contact the Human Rights Officer (or 

HRO)/Title IX Coordinator. 

 
[INSERT FULL HRO/TITLE IX COORDINATOR INFORMATION HERE:  

NAME, TITLE 
PHYSICAL ADDRESS  

TELEPHONE NUMBER  
EMAIL ADDRESS] 

 

Section 1. Definitions 
 

For purposes of these complaint procedures, the following definitions will be used. The Human 

Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator shall assess all reports and complaints to ensure that they are 

addressed under the appropriate policy and complaint procedure. 

 
A. Discrimination/Harassment Complaint Procedure Definitions 

 

1. "Discrimination or harassment": Discrimination or harassment on the basis of an individual's 

membership in a protected category, which, for employees, includes race, color, sex, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, age, religion, ancestry, national origin, genetic information or 

disability. 

 

2. "Discrimination": Treating individuals differently, or interfering with or preventing them from 
enjoying the advantages or privileges afforded to others because of their membership in a 
protected category. 
 

3. "Harassment": Oral, written, graphic, electronic or physical conduct relating to an individual's 
actual or perceived membership in a protected category that is sufficiently severe, pervasive or 
persistent so as to interfere with or limit that individual's ability to participate in the school 
district's programs or activities by creating a hostile, intimidating or offensive environment. 

 
4. "Sexual harassment": Under New Hampshire law, this means unwelcome sexual advances, 

requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature in the 
following situations: 

 
• Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of a 

student's educational benefits; 



 

• Submission to or rejection of such conduct by a student is used as  the basis for decisions on 
educational benefits; or 

• Such conduct has the purpose and effect of substantially interfering         with a student's academic 
performance or creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive environment. 

 
5. "Sexual orientation": Under New Hampshire law, this means "having or  being perceived as 

having an orientation for heterosexuality, bisexuality, or homosexuality." 
 

6. "Gender identity": Under New Hampshire law, this means "a person's gender-related identity, 
appearance, or behavior, whether or not that gender-related identity, appearance, or behavior is 
different from that traditionally associated with the person's physiology or assigned sex at birth." 

 

7. "Complaint" is defined as an allegation that an employee or other third party has been 
discriminated against or harassed on the basis of race, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender 
identity, age, religion, ancestry, national origin, genetic information or disability (and in regard to 
sex, conduct not otherwise addressed in the Title IX regulations and Section 3 of ACAB-R}. 

 
8. "Employee": Whenever the term "employee" is used in Section 2, it includes visitors or 

others who have a lawful basis to make a complaint of discrimination or harassment. 

 

B. Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedure Definitions 
 
1. "Title IX sexual harassment": Under the federal Title IX regulations, sexual harassment 

includes the following conduct on the basis of sex which takes place within the context of 

the school district's education programs and activities: 

 
a. "Quid pro quo" sexual harassment by a school employee: Conditioning a school aid, 

benefit or service (such as a promotion or favorable evaluation) on an individual's 

participation in unwelcome sexual conduct; 

b. "Hostile environment" sexual harassment: Unwelcome conduct based on sex that a 

reasonable person would determine is so severe, pervasive and objectively offensive that 

it effectively denies         an individual's equal access to the school district's education 

programs and activities; or 

c. Sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence and stalking as these terms are 

defined in federal laws. 

 

2. "Report": Under the Title IX regulations, any individual may make a report of sexual 

harassment involving an employee, whether the individual is the alleged victim or not. A 

report must be made to the Human Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator. A report triggers 

certain actions by the HRO/Title IX Coordinator for the alleged victim of sexual harassment, 

but an investigation is not conducted unless a "Formal Complaint" is filed. 

 



 

3. "Formal Complaint": Under Title IX, the alleged victim of sexual harassment can file a 

written complaint that triggers the complaint procedure in Section 3 of ACAB-R. Only a 

school employee (and in certain circumstances, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator) may file a 

formal complaint. 

4. "Employee": For the purpose of this procedure, "employee" means an applicant for 

employment or a current employee of the school district. 

 

Section 2. Discrimination/Harassment Com plaint Procedure 
 

[Note: This procedure generally tracks the procedure in earlier versions of ACAB-R, with 

some adjustments in an effort to minimize differences, where possible, between this complaint 

procedure and the Title IX sexual harassment complaint procedure in Section 3.] 

 
This procedure should be used for any complaint of unlawful harassment or discrimination based on a 
protected category which does not involve Title IX sexual harassment. 

 
A. How to Make A Complaint 

 
1. An employee who believes they have been unlawfully harassed or discriminated against (as such 

terms are defined in Section 1.A.1-3) is encouraged to try to resolve the problem by informing the 
individual(s) that the behavior is unwelcome or offensive, and requesting that the behavior stop. 
This shall not prevent the employee from making an immediate complaint to the HRO/Title IX 
Coordinator. 
 

2. Any employee who believes they have been harassed or discriminated against should report their 
concern promptly to the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. A written complaint must include basic 
information concerning the allegation of harassment or discrimination (i.e., date, time, location, 
individual(s) who alleged engaged in harassment or discrimination, description of allegation). 

 
3. Employees who are unsure as to whether unlawful discrimination or harassment has occurred, or 

who need assistance in preparing a written complaint, are encouraged to discuss the matter with 
the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. 

 

4. Employees will not be retaliated against for reporting suspected discrimination or harassment, or 
for participating in an investigation.           Retaliation is illegal under federal and state 
nondiscrimination laws, and any retaliation will result in disciplinary measures, up to and 
including discharge. 

 

5. Any employee who believes they have been discriminated against or harassed is encouraged to 
utilize the school district's complaint procedure. However, employees are hereby notified that 
they also have the right to report incidents of discrimination or harassment to the New Hampshire 
Commission for Human Rights [INSERT CONTACT  INFO.] and/or to the federal Office for Civil 
Rights, U.S. Department of Education, 5 Post Office Square, 8th Floor, Boston, MA 02109-3921 



 

(telephone: 617-289-0111). 

 

B. Complaint Handling and Investigation 
 

1. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator will promptly inform the Superintendent and the person who is 
the subject of the complaint (respondent) that a complaint has been received. 

 
2. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator may pursue an informal resolution of the complaint with the 

agreement of the parties involved. Any party to the           complaint may decide to end the informal 
resolution process and pursue the formal process at any point. Any informal resolution is subject 
to the approval of the parties and the Superintendent, who shall consider whether the resolution 
is in the best interest of the school district and the parties in light of the particular circumstances 
and applicable policies and laws. 

 

3. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator may implement supportive measures (consistent with any 
applicable collective bargaining agreement provisions) to reduce the risk of further 
discrimination or harassment while an investigation is pending. Examples of supportive measures 
include, but are not limited to, ordering no contact between the individuals involved; changing 
a work location or changing a work schedule. 

 
4. The complaint will be investigated by a trained internal or external individual designated by the 

Superintendent and the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. Any complaint about an employee who holds 
a supervisory position shall be investigated by a person who is not subject to that supervisor's 
authority. Any complaint about the Superintendent should be submitted to the Chair of the 
Board, who should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation of the 
complaint. 

 
5. The investigator shall consult with the HRO/Title IX Coordinator as agreed during the investigation 

process. 

6. The respondent will be provided with an opportunity to be heard as part of the investigation. The 
complainant shall not be required to attend meetings with the respondent, but may choose to do 
so as part of an informal resolution process. 

7. The complainant and the respondent may suggest witnesses and/or submit materials they believe 
are relevant to the complaint. 

 
8. If the complaint is against an employee of the school district, any rights conferred under an 

applicable collective bargaining agreement shall be applied. 

 
9. Privacy rights of all parties to the complaint shall be maintained in accordance with applicable 

state and federal laws. 
 

10. The investigation shall be completed within 40 calendar [or business] days of receiving the 
complaint, if practicable. Reasonable extensions of time for good reason shall be allowed. 



 

 

11. The investigator shall provide a written report and findings to the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. 
 

C. Findings and Subsequent Actions 
 

1. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator shall consult with the Superintendent            concerning the 
investigation and findings. 
 

2. If there is a finding that discrimination or harassment occurred, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator, 
in consultation with the Superintendent: 

 
a) Shall determine what remedial action, if any, is required to end the discrimination or 

harassment, remedy its effect and prevent recurrence; and 
b) Determine what disciplinary action should be taken against the individual(s) who engaged 

in discrimination or harassment, if any. 
 

3. Inform the complainant and the respondent in writing of the results of the investigation and its 
resolution (in accordance with applicable state and federal privacy laws). 
 

D. Appeals 
 

1. After the conclusion of the investigation, the complainant or respondent may seek an appeal of 
the findings solely on the basis of either: (a) prejudicial procedural error or (b) the discovery of 
previously  unavailable relevant evidence that could significantly impact the outcome. 

 
2. Appeals must be submitted in writing to the Superintendent within five       calendar [or business] 

days after receiving notice of the resolution. 
 

3. Upon receipt of a valid appeal, the Superintendent shall provide notice to the other party, along 
with an opportunity to provide a written statement within five calendar [or business] days. 

 
4. The Superintendent shall review the available documentation and may conduct further investigation 

if deemed appropriate. 
 

5. The Superintendent's decision on the appeal shall be provided to the parties within 10 calendar 
[or business] days, if practicable. The Superintendent's decision shall be final. 

 

[Note: The Board should decide whether to allow appeal of the Superintendent's decision to 

the Board. We recommend discussing this option with legal counsel before drafting such 

language.] 

 
E. Records 

 
The HRO/Title IX Coordinator shall keep a written record of the complaint                process. 
 



 

Section 3. Title IX Sexual Harassment Com plaint Procedure 
 

This section should be used only for complaints of Title IX sexual harassment as defined in Section 1.B.1. 
 

A. How to Make A Report 
 

1. Any individual who believes an employee has been sexually harassed (as this term is defined in 
Section l.B.1) may make a report to the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. 

 
2. If the individual making the report is the alleged victim, or if the alleged             victim is identified by 

the individual making the report, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator will meet with the alleged 
victim to discuss supportive measures that may be appropriate in the particular circumstances 
and explain the process for filing a formal complaint. 

 
a. Supportive measures are individualized measures designed to ensure the employee can 

continue to access and perform their work (such as requiring no contact between 
individuals, temporarily moving work locations or changing schedules, etc.). 

b. Supportive measures may be continued even if the alleged victim chooses not to file a 
formal complaint, if appropriate under the particular circumstances. 

 
3. The school district cannot provide an informal resolution process for resolving a report until a 

formal complaint is filed. 
 

4. Employees will not be retaliated against for reporting sexual harassment, or for participating in 
an investigation. Retaliation is illegal                    under federal and state nondiscrimination laws, and any 
retaliation will result in disciplinary actions, up to and including discharge. 

 
5. Any employee who believes they have been the victim of sexual harassment is encouraged to 

utilize the school district's complaint procedures. However, employees are hereby notified that 
they also have the right to report sexual harassment to the New Hampshire Commission for Human 
Rights [INSERT CONTACT INFO.] and/or to the federal Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department 
of Education, 5 Post Office Square, 8th Floor, Boston, MA 02109-3921 (telephone: 617-289- 
0111). 

 
6. The Superintendent shall be informed of all reports and formal complaints of sexual 

harassment. 
 

B. How to Make A Formal Complaint 
 

1. An alleged victim may file a formal written complaint requesting investigation of alleged Title IX 
sexual harassment.  The written complaint must include basic information concerning the 
allegation of sexual harassment (i.e., date, time, location, individual(s) who alleged engaged in 
sexual harassment, description of allegation). 

 
Employees who need assistance in preparing a formal written complaint, are encouraged to 



 

consult with the HRO/Title IX Coordinator. 

 

2. In certain circumstances, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator may file a formal complaint even when 
the alleged victim chooses not to. Examples include if the respondent (person alleged to have 
engaged in sexual harassment) has been found responsible for previous sexual harassment or 
there is a safety threat within the school district).  In such cases, the alleged victim is not a 
party to the case, but will receive notices as required by the Title IX regulations at specific 
points in the complaint process. 

 
3. In accordance with the Title IX regulations, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator         must dismiss a 

formal complaint under this Title IX procedure if: a) the conduct alleged in the formal 

complaint does not constitute sexual harassment under the Title IX regulations and this 

policy; b) if the conduct alleged did not occur within the scope of the school district's 

education programs and activities, or c) did not occur in the United States. 

 
4. In accordance with the Title IX regulations, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator          may dismiss a 

formal complaint under this Title IX procedure if: a) a complainant withdraws the formal 

complaint, or withdraws particular allegations within the complaint; b) the respondent  is no 

longer employed by the school district; or c) there are specific circumstances that prevent 

the school district from gathering evidence sufficient to reach a determination regarding 

the formal complaint. 

 
5. If a formal complaint is dismissed under this Title IX procedure, the HRO/Title IX 

Coordinator will promptly and simultaneously send written             notices to the parties explaining 

the reasons. Parties have the opportunity to appeal dismissals in accordance with subsection I 

below. 

 
6. If the conduct alleged potentially violates other laws, Board policies and/or professional 

expectations, the school district may address the conduct under Section 2 or another  

applicable policy/procedure. 

 
C. Administrative Leave 

 
1. The Superintendent may place an employee respondent on administrative leave during the 

complaint  procedure  in  accordance with any applicable State laws, school policies and 

collective bargaining agreement provisions. 

 

2. Any decision to place an employee respondent on administrative leave shall be made in 

compliance with any applicable disability laws, including Section 504 of the Rehabilitation 

Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

 

D. Notice to Parties of Formal Complaint 
 



 

1. The Title IX Coordinator will provide to the parties written notice of the formal complaint and 
allegations of sexual harassment potentially constituting prohibited conduct under the Title IX 
regulations and this procedure. The notice will include: 

 
 Notice regarding the complaint procedure and the availability of  an informal resolution 

process; 

 Sufficient details known at the time (including identities of parties, if known; the conduct 
alleged; and the date and location  of the alleged incident, if known), with sufficient time to 
prepare before any initial interview (not less than five calendar [or business] days); 

 As required by the Title IX regulations, a statement that the respondent is presumed not 
responsible for the alleged conduct and that a determination of responsibility will be made 
at the conclusion of the complaint); and that the parties may inspect and review evidence; 

 Notice that the parties may each have an advisor of their choice (who may be an attorney), 
and that the parties may inspect and review evidence; 

 Notice that knowingly making false statements or submitting false      information during the 
complaint procedure is prohibited and may result in disciplinary action; and 

 Notice of the name of the investigator, with sufficient time (no less than three calendar [or 
business] days) to raise concerns of conflict of interest or bias. 

 
2. If additional allegations become known at a later time, notice of the additional allegations with be 

provided to the parties. 

 
3. The HRO/Title IX Coordinator will discuss supportive measures with each party and implement 

such measures as appropriate. 
 

E. Informal Resolution Process 
 

After a formal complaint has been filed, and if the HRO/Title IX Coordinator believes the 
circumstances are appropriate, the HRO/Title IX Coordinator may offer the parties the opportunity 
to participate in an informal resolution process to resolve the complaint without completing the 
investigation and determination process. Informal resolutions cannot be used to resolve a formal 
complaint where a student is the complainant and the respondent is an employee. 

 
Informal resolutions can take many forms, depending on the particular case. Examples include, but 
are not limited to, facilitated discussions between the parties; restorative justice; acknowledgment of 
responsibility by a respondent; apologies; disciplinary actions against a respondent or a requirement 
to engage in specific services; or supportive measures. Both parties must voluntarily agree in 
writing to participate in an informal resolution process, and either party can withdraw from the 
process at any time . The Superintendent must agree to the terms of any informal resolution reached 
between the parties. If an informal resolution agreement is reached, it must be signed by both 
parties and the school district. Any such signed agreement is final and binding according to its terms. 

 
If an informal resolution process does not resolve the formal complaint, nothing from the informal 
resolution process may be considered as evidence in the subsequent investigation or determination. 

 



 

A. Investigation 
 

1. The complaint will be investigated by a trained internal or external individual designated by the 
Superintendent and HRO/Title IX Coordinator. Any complaint about an employee who holds a 
supervisory position shall be investigated by a person who is not subject to that supervisor's 
authority. Any complaint about the Superintendent should be submitted to the Chair of the 
Board, who     should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation of the 
complaint. 

 
2. The investigator shall consult with the HRO/Title IX Coordinator as agreed during the 

investigation process. 
 

3. If the complaint is against an employee of the school district, rights conferred under an 
applicable collective bargaining agreement shall be  applied, to the extent they do not conflict 
with the Title IX regulatory requirements. 

 

4. Privacy rights of all parties to the complaint shall be maintained in accordance with applicable 
state and federal laws. 

 
5. The investigator will: 

 
a. Meet with each party after they have received appropriate notice of any meeting and its 

purpose, with sufficient time to prepare. 
 

b. Allow parties to have their advisor at all meetings related to the complaint, although advisors 
may not speak on behalf of a party or interfere with the process. 

 
c. Allow parties a reasonable opportunity to identify witnesses and  submit favorable and 

unfavorable evidence. 
 

d. Interview witnesses and conduct such other activities that will assist  in ascertaining facts (site 
visits, review of documents, etc.). 

 
e. Consider evidence that is relevant and directly related to the  allegations in the formal 

complaint. 
 

f. During the course of the investigation, provide both parties with an equal opportunity to 
inspect and review any evidence that is obtained in the investigation that is directly related 
to the allegations in the formal complaint (including evidence which the school district does 
not intend to rely upon in reaching a determination of responsibility), and favorable and 
unfavorable evidence. 

 
g. Prior to completion of the investigation report, provide each party and advisor (if any) the 

evidence subject to inspection and review, and provide the parties with ten calendar [or 
business] days to submit a written response. 



 

 
h. Consider the parties' written responses to the evidence prior to      completing the investigation 

report. 
 

i. Create an investigative report that fairly summarizes relevant evidence and send the report to 
the parties and advisors (if any), for their review and written responses within ten calendar 
[or business] days of receipt. 

 
j. After receipt of the parties' written responses (if any), forward the  investigation report and 

party responses to the assigned decision maker. 

 
6. The investigation shall be concluded within 40 calendar [or business] days if practicable. 

Reasonable extension of time for good reason shall          be allowed. 
 

G. Determination of Responsibility 
 

[Note: The decision maker cannot be the investigator or Title IX Coordinator, and must receive specific 
training. If appeals are to be heard by the Superintendent, the Board should determine if they wish to 
use particular upper-level administrators as decision makers.] 

 
1. The decision maker shall provide the parties with the opportunity to submit written, relevant 

questions that the party wants asked of another party or witness within five calendar [or 
business] days of when the decision maker received the investigation report and party 
responses. 

 
a. The decision maker shall explain to a party proposing questions if the decision maker 

excludes a question as not relevant. 
 

2. Each party shall be provided the opportunity to review the responses of another party 
and/or witness, and to ask limited written follow-up questions within five calendar [or 
business] days of receiving the answers. 

 
3. Each party will receive a copy of the responses to any follow-up questions. 

 
4. The decision maker shall review the investigation report, the parties' responses and other 

relevant materials, applying the preponderance of the evidence standard ("more likely than 
not"). [Note to Local Boards: School districts can use the clear and convincing standard, but 
we recommend retaining the preponderance standard that school districts use in most other 
cases.] 

 
5. The decision maker shall issue a written determination, which shall include the following: 

 
a. Identification of all the allegations potentially constituting sexual harassment as defined 

in the Title IX regulations and this policy; 
 



 

b. A description of the procedural steps taken from receipt of the formal complaint through 
the determination, including notifications to the parties, interviews with parties and 
witnesses, site visits, methods used to gather other evidence, and meetings held; 

 
c. A determination regarding responsibility as to each allegation and findings of fact 

supporting the determinations; 
 

d. A statement of, and rationale for, the result as to each allegation, including a determination 
regarding responsibility, any disciplinary sanctions the school district imposes on the 
respondent, and whether remedies designed to restore or preserve equal access to the 
school district's programs and activities will be provided to the complainant; 

 
e. The school district's appeal procedure and permissible bases for the parties to appeal the 

determination. 
 

6. The written determination shall be provided to the parties simultaneously. The 
determination concerning responsibility becomes final either on the date that the school 
district provides the parties with the written determination of the results of the appeal, if an 
appeal is filed, or if an appeal is not filed, the date on which the appeal would no longer be 
considered timely. 

 
F. Remedies, Discipline and Other Actions 

 
[Note: The Title IX regulations require school districts to provide a "range," not an exhaustive list, of 
measures that would be used to ensure the complainant's equal access to the school district's programs 
and activities. Likewise, local Boards must include a "range" of disciplinary sanctions that may be 
imposed.] 

 
1. Remedies 

 

Remedies are measures used to ensure that the complainant has equal access to the school district's 
education programs and activities following the decision maker's determination. Such remedies may 
include supportive measures, and may include other appropriate measures, depending upon the 
determination and the needs of the complainant. The Title IX Coordinator is responsible for 
implementing remedies and providing any needed assistance to the Complainant. 
 

2. Discipline and Other Actions 
 

The following are examples of the types of disciplinary actions that may be imposed on an employee 
when there is a determination that they are responsible for one or more violations involving sexual 
harassment: 

 
• Written warning. 
• Probation. 
• Demotion. 



 

• Suspension without pay. 
• Discharge. 

 
The following are examples of other types of actions that may be imposed        on an employee when 
there is a determination of responsibility: 

 
• Performance improvement plan. 
• Counseling. 
• Training. 
• Loss of leadership/stipend position. 
 
 

1. Appeals 
 

The parties have the opportunity to appeal a determination regarding responsibility, and from 
dismissals of formal complaints. Under the Title IX          regulations, appeals are allowed on the 
following grounds: 

 
1. A procedural irregularity that affected the outcome of the matter; 

 
2. New evidence that was not reasonably available at the time the determination regarding 

responsibility or dismissal of the formal complaint was made, that could affect the outcome 
of the matter; or 

 
3. The Title IX Coordinator, investigator, or decision maker had a conflict of interest or bias for 

or against complainants or respondents generally, or the individual complainant or 
respondent that affected the outcome of the matter. 

 

An appeal must be filed in writing within five calendar [or business] days of  receiving the 
determination, stating the grounds for the appeal and including any relevant documentation in 
support of the appeal. Appeals submitted after this deadline are not timely and shall not be 
considered. 

 
1. Appeals must be filed with the Superintendent, who will consider the appeal. 

 
2. The Superintendent shall conduct an impartial review of the appeal, including 

consideration of the written record of the matter, and may consult with legal counsel or 

other school district officials in making their decision. 

 
3. The Superintendent shall issue a written decision describing the result of the appeal and 

rationale for the result, and provide the written decision simultaneously to the parties. 

The decision will either deny the appeal; grant the appeal and remand to the decision 

maker for further consideration; or grant the appeal by revising the disciplinary 

action(s). 

 



 

F. Records 
 

Records in connection with sexual harassment reports and the complaint       process shall be 

maintained for a minimum of seven years. 

 
 

Legal References: 

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.); 34 C.F.R. Part 106 
Clery Act (20 U.S.C. §1092(f)(6)(A)(v) - definition of sexual assault) 
Violence Against Women Act (34 U.S.C. § 1092(f)(6)(A)(v) - definition of sexual assault; 34 

U.S.C. § 12291(a)(10) - dating violence; 34 U.S.C. §12291(a)(3) - definition of stalking; 34 

U.S.C. §12291(a)(8) - definition of domestic violence) 
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d) 
Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C § 12101et seq.), as amended Section 504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) (29 U.S.C. §794 et seq.), as amended 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et. seq.; 29 C.F.R. § 1604.11) 
Age Discrimination in Employment Act (29 U.S.C. § 623 et seq.) 

Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (42 U.S.C. § 2000ft et seq.) 
RSA 186:11; and 354-A  NH Code Admin. R. Ed. 303.0l(i) and (j) 

 

Cross Reference: 

AC-  Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity 
ACAB - Harassment and Sexual Harassment of School Employees 

 

 
 

First Reading:  July 13, 2021 
Second Reading:   
Final Adoption:   

 



 

 

 AC NONDISCRIMINATION/EQUAL OPPORTUNITY                                                              
 
 

The school district does not discriminate on the basis of sex or other protected categories in its 

education programs and activities, as required by federal and state laws/regulations. 

 
Discrimination against and harassment of school employees because of age, sex, gender identity, sexual 

orientation, race, creed, color, ancestry or national origin, marital status, familial status, physical or 

mental disability, religion, or genetic information are prohibited. 

 

Discrimination against and harassment of students because of age, sex, gender  identity, sexual 

orientation, race, creed, color, ancestry or national origin, marital status, familial status, physical or 

mental disability, religion or economic status are prohibited. 

 
The Board directs the school administration to create and implement a continuing program designed to 

prevent, assess the presence of, intervene in,  and respond to incidents of discrimination against all 

applicants, employees, students and other individuals having access rights to school premises and 

activities. 

 

The school district has designated and authorized a Human Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator who is 

responsible for ensuring compliance with all federal and state requirements relating to 

nondiscrimination, including sexual harassment. The Human Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator is a 

person with direct access to the Superintendent. 

 

The school district has implemented complaint procedures for resolving complaints of 

discrimination/harassment and sexual harassment under this policy. The school district provides 

required notices of these complaint procedures and how they can be accessed, as well as the school 

district's compliance with federal and state civil rights laws and regulations to all applicants for 

employment, employees, students, parents and other interested parties. 

 
Legal Reference: 

Equal Employment Opportunities Act of 1972 (P.L. 92-261) amending Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000(e) et seq.) 

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.) Title VI of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352) 
Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.) Equal Pay Act of 1963 
{29 u.s.c. § 206) 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.); 34  CFR § 10 4 .7, as amended 
Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101et seq.), as amended Genetic Information 

Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (42 U.S.C. § 2000ft et seq.) 
NH RSA 186:11; 193:38; 193:39; 354-A 



 

 

              NH Code Admin. R. Ed. 303.0l(i) 
 

Cross Reference: 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District 
ACAA - Unlawful Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students ACAA-R- Student Unlawful 

Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

ACAB- Unlawful Harassment and Sexual Harassment of School Employees 

ACAB-R - Employee & Third-Party Unlawful Discrimination/ Harassment and Title IX Sexual 
Harassment Complaint Procedures 

 
 

 
 
 

First Reading:  July 13, 2021 
Second Reading:   
Final Adoption:   

 



WILTON-LYNDEBOROUGH COOPERATIVE 1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 

SCHOOL BOARD MEETING 
Tuesday, July 13, 2021 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative M/H School 
      6:30 p.m. 

Present: Alex LoVerme, Brianne Lavallee (remote), Jonathan Vanderhoof, Matt Mannarino, Tiffany Cloutier-
Cabral, Jim Kofalt, Charlie Post (6:47pm,remote ) and Paul White  

Superintendent Peter Weaver, Business Administrator Kristie LaPlante, Principal Sarah Edmunds, Assistant 
Principal Katie Gosselin and Director of Student Support Services Ned Pratt, Technology Director Jonathan Bouley, 
Curriculum Coordinator Emily Stefanich, Food Service Director Erin Smith and Clerk Kristina Fowler 

I. CALL TO ORDER
Chairman LoVerme called the meeting to order at 6:31pm. 16 

17 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE18 

 The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 19 
20 

III. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE AGENDA21 
The following adjustments to the agenda were requested; a nonpublic for personnel matters, replacement of a school 22 
board member and accounting firm. 23 

24 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Kofalt and SECONDED by Mr. White to accept the adjustments to the agenda. 25 
Voting: via roll call vote, six ayes; one abstention from Chairman LoVerme, motion carried. 26 

27 
IV. PUBLIC COMMENTS28 

 The public comment section of the agenda was read. Public comment was asked for by those present and those 29 
online and on the telephone. 30 

31 
Ms. Heidi Kemmerer, Lyndeborough asked about lunchtime protocols at FRES. She saw a lot of food waste and had 32 
a 10am lunch duty. She noted the students were fed a lot, some took advantage of this. She questions if we will not 33 
have children socially distanced and not as much lunch duty come this school year. Chairman LoVerme responded 34 
that the administration team would be working on this. 35 

36 
Ms. Lavallee asked that those speaking move closer to the microphone. 37 

38 
V. BOARD CORRESPONDENCE39 

a. Reports40 
i. Superintendent’s Report41 

Superintendent gave an overview of his report which included his settling in and meeting with staff. He thanked Ms. 42 
Fowler for her assistance during the transition. He provided a list of new hires and vacant positions. He spoke of 43 
being concerned at filling the one teaching position, industrial technology. The position is difficult to fill; it is pre-44 
engineering and CAD plus traditional woodworking. He is problem solving with Ms. Edmunds and Ms. Gosselin and 45 
they have a contingency plan if necessary to still provide classes but maybe not all of them. 46 

47 
The administrative team present introduced themselves and spoke a little about their background. They are all 48 
excited and enthusiastic about their new positions. They were welcomed by the Board. Superintendent noted he is 49 
confident we will fill the other vacant positions and confirmed there is a contingency plan for the industrial 50 
technology position if it is not filled. 51 

52 
VI. NHSBA MEMBERSHIP DUES53 

Superintendent reviewed back in April the Board discussed continuing membership with NHSBA. There was a 54 
motion to not continue membership and he believes it failed. The bill is in and cost is $3,195.19 (includes 55 



 

  

membership and policy subscription); it is budgeted for 21-22. He is questioning if we should move forward with 56 
paying the bill. Discussion was had the voters voted to pass the budget and they said this is how they wanted to 57 
spend the money. It was noted that we change things in the budget all the time. It was further noted that the public 58 
doesn’t vote on the minutia, line by line but by a total budget with overarching concepts; we make changes to 59 
spending and not spending all the time. We did vote as a Board against this as Peter said. Ms. Lavallee recalls that 60 
the motion did not pass therefor we would move forward with paying the bill. She understands the point made but 61 
wants to add the towns people requested a line by line budget, the Budget Committee provided that and it was part of 62 
the budget at the time and there was no objection to the specifics. Discussion continued including if that is the 63 
practice we will follow, we can’t change anything. Concern was noted about setting a precedent: the line by line was 64 
available but we didn’t ask about this. Chairman LoVerme noted we had a motion and it did not pass and there is no 65 
need to bring it up again.  Mr. Vanderhoof spoke, that the motion did not pass but there was further discussion after 66 
the vote and Mr. Vanderhoof reported he specifically requested memberships like this should be voted on an 67 
annually basis and he has never voted to be a member of NHSBA and it should be voted whether we continue the 68 
membership or not. It should be practice to review and take a vote. He adds, if we are going to pay the bill, he 69 
advises reaching out to the attorney to find out how to do this properly within in RSA 15:5 and make sure we do it 70 
properly because we are not currently and pretty much neither is any other SAU in the state he believes. He reviewed 71 
what the RSA essentially means. Any state grants, if we get any, those funds can’t be used for an organization that 72 
lobbies. The funds need to be put in a separate account and not comingle. The funds need to come from the town and 73 
go into a separate account for those reasons and not be comingled with the general fund. A question was raised if it 74 
had to be done for all memberships. It was noted it could affect the Superintendent Association; all associations 75 
lobby. Response was, not necessarily. Mr. Vanderhoof spoke that he only knows of 3 we have that have lobbied. It 76 
was discussed how this might work. It has to come from the town to the account and not into the general fund. A 77 
question was raised if the town needs to send a separate check. Ms. LaPlante spoke she has reviewed the RSA and 78 
understands the situation of comingling funds. Mr. Vanderhoof spoke that the funds have to go directly in that 79 
account that we pay the NHSBA out of, you cannot cut a check from the general fund. Once they are mixed, we are 80 
not following the RSA. Ms. LaPlante spoke that she has not had the chance to review the practice of it with other 81 
communities and would like the opportunity to see how other communities are doing this and ask what the auditors 82 
recommend; is it a trust fund, and how is it set up. She is not dismissing the concept but would be in a better position 83 
to answer if she had additional information. Mr. Vanderhoof does not believe anyone else is doing it. Ms. LaPlante 84 
noted the DRA might be helpful. Mr. Kofalt noted he believes it is possibly on the DOE Commissioners radar. He is 85 
probably looking at how and if it will be enforced in the future. Mr. Kofalt is not sure he agrees funds have to go 86 
from towns to a segregated account. He knows you have to have a separate bank account.  He adds you could ask the 87 
CPA but likely, they will say no one has asked this before.  It was noted if we are going to do it, we need to do it “by 88 
the book” and do it right. Superintendent Weaver confirms we will hold off on paying the bill until we are clear 89 
about earmarking it concerning lobbying. Chairman LoVerme confirms this. We should come back with a resolution 90 
for Aug. 10 and in the meantime, we will talk to them about the drop dead due date. Mr. Vanderhoof spoke that he 91 
had made a suggestion with a policy that had to do with NHSBA membership and he asked for it to be amended. It 92 
was confirmed there was no amendment made. It was noted if it was done by warrant article that could be a slippery 93 
slope since it was in the budget. Because it is in the budget, it is assumed to be open for discussion annually. It 94 
should be voted on every year. It was confirmed there is no change to the policy.  95 
 96 

VII. AUGUST BOARD WORKSHOP 97 
Superintendent reviewed that there was discussion about having a workshop previously. He questions if the Board 98 
wants to continue with that for setting goals etc. In 2016, this was done with Dr. Ayers as the facilitator. The focus 99 
was on culture and climate etc. He questions if the Board wants the same format. Chairman LoVerme reported it was 100 
productive but doesn’t remember the details. Mr. Vanderhoof was not there but has been involved with those that 101 
discussed goals and objectives. Superintendent spoke if we do have a workshop and focus on school goals, vision, 102 
and outcomes, plus measurement of success. He suggests including the administration to collaborate and discuss 103 
measuring the goals throughout the year. A question was raised, what was the follow up from the 2016 workshop; 104 
that should a critical piece if we have a workshop. Mr. Post likes that idea, we need more collaboration with the 105 
leadership team; if we come up with ideas and can’t execute them; we need buy-in from both sides. He believes it 106 
would be helpful. He was at that workshop in 2016 and thought the workshop was productive; what direction do we 107 
want to go in, what could we do for staff and community and set objectives based on those. We stayed on that path of 108 
developing the curriculum; he believes it can be very productive. When we come back in the fall, it will be some sort 109 
of a reset pending COVID. A question was raised if the Board would like a facilitator, did you feel it helped to stay 110 



 

  

on task and be productive to get things done. Mr. Vanderhoof responded, in those he was involved in there was not a 111 
facilitator. There were no long-term goals set but annually ones that went to the Strategic Planning Committee; that 112 
is where we set the agenda for that committee. It was noted it might be helpful to have a facilitator. Mr. Kofalt sees 113 
this as not a one and done scenario but the beginning of a deeper conversation of the vision of the district. He spoke 114 
with Mr. Weaver regarding his vision for the district as part of the process of hiring a superintendent. He used the 115 
phrase, “the vision of the graduate”. It focuses on why we are here and what we want students of this district to get 116 
when they reach graduation. Mr. Kofalt sees this as a first of series of gatherings and agrees there should be a 117 
facilitator. Without a facilitator, there can be a tendency to steer the conversation down a certain path and a facilitator 118 
is a neutral party who can look at it from a neutral perspective. There is consensus to have a facilitator. 119 
Superintendent will look for a facilitator for August 10. He suggests the time of the meeting be earlier in the day. 120 
There was no objection to start the board meeting earlier at 5:30pm. There will be a business meeting the first hour 121 
and then will adjourn for 2 hours to do the workshop with a facilitator. Facilitator suggestions can be sent to the 122 
Superintendent. Chairman LoVerme reported he might not be in attendance. 123 

VIII. SUBSTITUTE RATE 124 
Superintendent spoke of needing help to reset the substitute rate. He spoke of being fortunate and grateful to raise it 125 
to $120 during the pandemic which helped to cover many teacher absences and we need to maintain our 126 
competiveness. Sixty-five dollars a day is on the low end and $150 is too high based on area rates last year. He is 127 
recommending $100 per day and notes he does not want to go over the paraeducator rates. The average rate for a 128 
paraeducators is currently about $16.74 per hour and rates range from $12-$19 per hour. Discussion was had that we 129 
need to competitive and do not want to lose substitutes to surrounding districts. Superintendent notes when we can’t 130 
fill in with a substitute we can utilize class coverage, sometimes teachers are available and need to give up their 131 
planning time. Ms. Edmunds did a great job with this but there is no guarantee; teachers are paid $20 for a 40-minute 132 
class. A suggestion was made to make it $110. Discussion continued including the need to be aware of the 133 
paraeducators rates, the need to be competitive and keeping in mind the nurse rates as well which is $130. It was 134 
noted on the low end of the paraeducators pay scale they would make $70 per day and should not pay substitutes 135 
more than the paraeducators but we go through this year after year. It was expressed that companies typically pay per 136 
diem workers at a higher rate as you expect them to be ready when called. Superintendent spoke that at another 137 
district, there was a pool of substitutes that worked every day around the district and that helped as it seemed that 138 
there was always a need within the district. We have highly qualified paraeducators that do a great job and we do not 139 
want to lose them to be substitutes. A question was raised how many substitutes we have. Ms. Edmunds report she 140 
has 2 that she typically utilizes. A suggestion was made to follow the recommendation of the Superintendent and 141 
make it $100. 142 
 143 
A MOTION was made by Mr. White and SECONDED by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral to increase the substitute daily rate to 144 
$100.  145 
Voting: via roll call vote, seven ayes; one abstention from Chairman LoVerme, motion carried. 146 

IX. POLICIES-1ST READ 147 
i.   ACAB Harassment and Sexual Harassment of School Employees 148 

ii.   ACAB-R Employee Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual  Harassment 149 
Complaint Procedures 150 

iii.  ACAA Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students 151 
iv.  ACAA-R Student Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment 152 

Complaint Procedures 153 
v. AC Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity 154 

Superintendent spoke regarding DAF policies that Superintendent Lane had sent to the Board. He would like to have 155 
those directed to the Policy Committee. He questions if they have an upcoming meeting. Mr. White who is on the 156 
committee responded that there is not an upcoming meeting scheduled. They did tried to schedule one but had 157 
scheduling conflicts. It was also noted that there is now a vacancy on the committee.  158 
 159 



 

  

Superintendent reviewed tonight’s policies (listed above) have to do with harassment and asks a first read be done 160 
now and will be brought back for the Aug.10 meeting for a 2nd read and adoption. Ms. Fowler will transfer them into 161 
our format. Student handbooks will also need to be updated to reflect the new policies. The DAF policies will go to 162 
the Policy Committee first. Chairman LoVerme asked members if there was any concern with the language of any of 163 
them. Mr. Vanderhoof was concerned with the Human Rights Officer/Title IX Coordinator and questioned who this 164 
is and what additional duties will we be asking them to do by passing the policy. Superintendent responded Ms. 165 
Edmunds is currently the Title IX Coordinator and we will want to move that responsibility to another administrator. 166 
We will give it some thought and have plans for meeting/retreat soon. Mr. Vanderhoof noted if we were not adding 167 
anything additional to the person’s plate then we should strike that portion that talks about that part of the policy.  168 
Ms. Edmunds noted we used to have one for each building. Superintendent agrees it would be best to have one for 169 
each building and make sure they have the proper training. A question was raised if there is a deadline to have the 170 
Title IX Coordinators. It was agreed it needs to be settled and training done before school starts. Superintendent will 171 
speak with Principal Chenette to see how it was handled in their last practice. There were no changes to the policies. 172 
This was an official 1st read and will move to a 2nd reading on Aug. 10.  173 

X. ACTION ITEMS 174 
a. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting 175 

Ms. Lavallee was having technical issues with connectivity. 176 
 177 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Vanderhoof and SECONDED by Mr. Kofalt to approve the minutes of June 22, 2021 178 
as written. 179 
Voting: via roll call vote, six ayes; one abstention from Chairman LoVerme, motion carried.  180 
 181 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Vanderhoof and SECONDED by Mr. Kofalt to approve the nonpublic minutes of June 182 
22, 2021 as written. 183 
Voting: via roll call vote, six ayes; one abstention from Chairman LoVerme, motion carried. 184 
 185 

 REPLACEMENT OF SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER 186 
Chairman LoVerme reported that Mr. Legere resigned effective July 1. He apologized as he thought it was sent to all 187 
members of the school board.  We will need to find a replacement and normally we reach out to people to provide a 188 
letter of interest indicating why they should be appointed to the school board.  189 
 190 
It was noted this leaves a vacancy on the Policy Committee. Ms. Cloutier-Cabral volunteered for the committee. Ms. 191 
Lavallee agreed to Chair the committee and they will schedule a time to meet. Policies will be sent to them once put 192 
into the district format. 193 
 194 

 ACCOUNTING FIRM/CPA REPORT 195 
Mr. Kofalt gave an update on the CPA report, which has to do with the engagement we authorized last month. He 196 
reported the accounting firm has completed their work looking at grants and bank reconciliation specifically.  He 197 
provided a brief overview, as there are many details. There is no final report yet. They found there were some 198 
adjustments required to the general ledger, the beginning balance doesn’t match last year’s ending balance as there 199 
were adjustments made and not rolled forward. Bank adjustments were not done for a while, and were caught up by 200 
the previous business administrator; all was in order but they still don’t match the general ledger. The CPA 201 
understands clearly, why that is and what adjustments need to be made. Quite a few transactions were misclassified 202 
and this is easily fixed. They have created a punch list. He notes Ms. LaPlante has a steep learning curve stepping 203 
into a new position. The punch list is of things that all need to be done. He adds this will be a much smoother 204 
process. Regarding grants, we wanted the firm to look at this as you hear stories of districts missing a deadline and 205 
leaving money on the table. There is a lot of grant submissions due at the end of Aug. and Sept. Because a lot of 206 
transactions are misclassified in the general ledger it will be challenging to get it all fixed. One thing he wants to 207 
state very clearly is nowhere in this process has there been any report of malfeasances or anything like that. There are 208 
things that need to be corrected and adjustments need to be made. The work they have done will be helpful to be sure 209 
we get those things done on time and accurately. The annual audit is done by the same CPA’s and will have a head 210 
start on that. Mr. Kofalt spoke to the Superintendent yesterday, as he wanted to give them a few days to settle into 211 
their new roles. The Superintendent, Ms. LaPlante and Dr. Heon should sit down with the CPA to walk through their 212 
findings and compare it with your existing list, come up with a plan and let the Board know what is needed to 213 



 

  

execute that plan. Scott Egan at Plodzik and Sanderson can set this up and contact information will be provided. He 214 
adds that deadlines are approaching and time is short and we need to get it set up soon. As far as process is concern, 215 
someone from the Budget Committee had reached out asking if we had a report. The CPA firm has a process before 216 
it can be made public and they want a LOR (Letter of Representation) from the school board, which they prepare, 217 
and we sign and attest to the fact the information you provide is true to the best of our knowledge. They will prepare 218 
this and get it to us by Thursday. There has been a delay due to vacations in the CPA firm. We should have it on 219 
Thursday. In the interest of getting it out sooner than later, if the Board delegates a member to sign the LOR we can 220 
sign it and get it to them, finalize it and make it public so we don’t have to wait until Aug. for anyone to see it. He 221 
requests the Board authorize the Chair and another member to sign. He volunteers to do it or Ms. Lavallee may be 222 
able to; we need 2 signatures. The LOR is common practice in situations like this.  223 
 224 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Kofalt and SECONDED by Ms. Cloutier-Cabral that the Board delegate authorization 225 
to sign the Letter of Representation (LOR) to Chairman LoVerme and Mr. Kofalt.* 226 
 227 
A question was raised if all board members will get a copy of the LOR, Mr. Kofalt confirms they will. He adds the 228 
LOR is an attestation that to the best of our knowledge the information we provide to the CPA firm is true, correct 229 
and completed. Ms. Lavallee spoke that she supports Mr. Kofalt being the second person to sign it.  230 
 231 
*Voting: via roll call vote, six ayes; two abstentions from Mr. Vanderhoof and Chairman LoVerme, motion carried. 232 
 233 

XI.RESIGNATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / LEAVES 234 
a.   FYI New Hire-Christina Morrissey WLC SPED Paraprofessional 235 
b. FYI New Hire-Yammilette Pizzaro-FRES ABA Therapist 236 
c. FYI New-Hire Lindsey Lowery-FRES ABA Therapist 237 
d. FYI New Hire-Eric Bouldin-FRES Custodian 238 

Superintendent reviewed the new hires. It was confirmed salaries are not needed for positions that the Board does not 239 
appoint. He confirmed we do have a custodian for LCS, Karen Nadeau and all custodian positions are now filled.  240 
 241 

XII. PUBLIC COMMENTS 242 
The public comment section of the agenda was read. Public comment was asked for by those present and those 243 
online and on the telephone.  There was no public comment heard.  244 
 245 

XIII. SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 246 
Mr. Post expressed it was nice to see Mr. Weaver here in the chair front and center; we are off to a good start with a 247 
short meeting.  248 
 249 
Ms. Lavallee reiterates what Mr. Post said; she is excited with all the new people on board and looks forward to this 250 
school year. 251 
 252 
Ms. Cloutier-Cabral expressed this was a great meeting, good job with the first meeting Mr. Weaver. She is excited 253 
about the new staff and new year and all those that are moving up. The Board has been very collaborative in this 254 
meeting, it is energetic, and she can feel the energy going on.  255 
 256 
Mr. Vanderhoof thanked Mr. Legere for serving as long as he did on the Board. He is sorry to see him go and thanks 257 
him for his service.  258 
 259 
Mr. Kofalt thanked everyone for showing up at tonight’s meeting; he understands after a long day you don’t want to 260 
come a meeting and luckily, this one is a short one. He feels positive about the new faces and new people in new 261 
positions. It is a good opportunity to leverage that energy and build a positive momentum in the district. He thanks 262 
you and looks forward to working with you all the next year and beyond.  263 
 264 
Mr. White thanked everyone for coming out and looks forward to a normal year and hope it is more of a 265 
straightforward year. 266 
 267 



 

  

Mr. Mannarino welcomed officially Mr. Weaver, Ms. Edmunds and Ms. Gosselin and thanks them for stepping up 268 
into their new roles and is looking forward to seeing what they will do. He welcomed the new faces and is looking 269 
forward to this year. He wishes everyone all the best and success in their new positions. 270 
 271 
Chairman LoVerme thanked the Board for coming out and being online. He thanked all the new staff, he hopes they 272 
continue to come our meetings and have a two-way communication. It is nice to put a face with a name. It will be an 273 
interesting year coming off a COVID year and there will be some challenges. He looks forward to working with 274 
everyone here and wishes everyone good luck for the new year. 275 
  276 

 NON-PUBLIC SESSION RSA 91-A: 3 II (A)  277 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Mannarino and SECONDED by Mr. White to enter Non-Public Session to discuss 278 
personnel matters RSA 91-A: 3 II (A) at 7:47pm. 279 
Voting: via roll call vote, seven ayes; one abstention from Chairman LoVerme, motion carried. 280 

 281 
RETURN TO PUBLIC SESSION 282 

 The Board entered public session at 8:09pm.   283 
 284 

XIV. ADJOURNMENT 285 
A MOTION was made by Mr. White and SECONDED by Mr. Kofalt to adjourn the Board meeting at 8:10pm. 286 
Voting: seven ayes; one abstention from Chairman LoVerme, motion carried. 287 
 288 
Respectfully submitted, 289 
Kristina Fowler 290 
 291 







 The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, 
sexual orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TO: The WLC School Board 
FROM: Peter Weaver 
DATE: August 2, 2021 
RE: Nomination for WLC SPED Case Manager/Teacher 
 
 
Please accept this as the nomination of Kira Brewster as the SPED Case Manager for WLC 
filling the vacancy left by Kim Meyer.  Ms. Brewster has been working in the district since 
August 2018 as a contracted service provider as a reading/writing specialist at the middle and 
high school.  She also has experience in developing curriculum for a private institution.  Ms. 
Brewster has a Masters degree in Education. She attended Lesley University in Cambridge, 
Massachusetts and Notre Dame College in Manchester, New Hampshire. She is a NH certified 
teacher in Elementary Education and Special Education.  
 
There were four applicants for this position and she was interviewed by Ms. Edmunds and Ms. 
Gosselin. The budgeted salary for this position is $62,200. I recommend a motion to appoint Kira 
Brewster as a SPED Case Manager/Teacher at WLC at a salary of $58,700, Masters step 13. 
 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District 
School Administrative Unit #63 

192 Forest Road Lyndeborough, NH 03082   
                       603-732-9227 
 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District provides a safe and educational environment that promotes student exploration, critical thinking and 
responsible citizenship. 

          Peter Weaver                                Ned Pratt                                            Kristie LaPlante                               Emily Stefanich 
 Superintendent of Schools          Director of Student Support Services Business Administrator         District Curriculum Coordinator 



Kira Brewster M.Ed 
Work experience 
 
Aug 2018 – Present – Reading/Writing Specialist – Middle and High school students 

 Plan, teach and evaluate curriculum for students who struggle with reading and writing 

 Serve as a resource to help students grown in their reading and writing skills 

 Instruct students in need of correction, acceleration or remediation 

 Attend IEP meetings and consulting with IEP team and classroom teachers to best benefits the 
student. 

 Responsible for carrying out IEP goals for student’s success. 
 

Sept 2009‐2011‐ Developed curriculum for a private institution for grades K‐8 
 
Sept. 2007 – Present – Private tutor/Consultant/Homeschool evaluator in several schools/homes in 
southern NH (Grades K‐12) 
 

 Assist children in excelling academically 

 Through unique assessment techniques, identified methods that will inspire, stimulate and 
connect with each student 

 Help children achieve success during each tutoring session 

 Tailored to an individualized approach where each child receives individual attention at every 
session 
 

Specific job responsibilities   

 Assess student’s areas of strengths and weaknesses to design the best plan for his/her success 

 Recommend the best learning environment for the student to help them improve their learning 

 Review the student’s classroom curricula topics and assignments to better serve the student 

 Consult with student’s teacher to collaborate on the subjects and areas of needed improvement  

 Develop and distribute teaching materials to supplement the student’s classroom lessons, 
including study guides 

 Conduct practice tests to track progress, identify areas of improvement and help set goals for 
exam preparation 

 Make corrections in assignments and other assessments where the students did not perform 
well 

 Help students develop intricate learning skills (writing and listening) and how to better handle 
difficult topics 

 Recommend resources such as books, websites and apps to allow students versatility in their 
learning and understanding of the subjects 

 Provide students positive and constructive feedback 

 Help students comprehend and assimilate the concepts and details of any given subject. 

 Demonstrate academic best practices for specific subjects and assignments, including research 
and writing tactics 

 Teach students basic study skills 

 Provide parents with monthly progress reports 

 Consult with parents and teachers on appropriate modifications for students with difficulties 



 Offer feedback on progress to parents and teachers where appropriate 

 Attend IEP meetings as an advocate for the parents 

 Consult with home school parents on appropriate curriculum choices for their child 

 Evaluate homeschoolers portfolios and curriculum on a yearly basis and submit a written report 
on the founded interview and research 

 Consult with homeschool parents on the state of NH guidelines for schooling at home 

 
 
Sept. 1995‐ 1999 – Taught 4th grade classroom and 5th and 6th grade gifted class. 
 

• Prepared lesson plans and taught reading, social studies, math, science and health using 

appropriate learning activities for 4th graders.     

• Planned learning experiences to motivate pupils with lesson plans and materials for 

individualized and small group instruction during out‐of‐classroom activities.     

• Created a functional learning atmosphere and develop standards of behavior in the classroom 

that evaluated academic and social growth.     

• Maintained books, instructional aids, and instructional supply records, created progress reports 

for parents on individual student progress.     

• Oversaw standardized tests and developed weekly lesson plans and supplementary

 materials and participated in curriculum developmental programs on a district level.   

• Monitored students’ development by making daily notes and logging/recording the data  

• Collaborated with other educational professionals and parents of children for constant progress 

checks.   

 



 The Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, veteran status, 
sexual orientation, gender identity or marital status in its administration of educational programs, activities or employment practice. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TO: Megan Sass 
FROM: Peter Weaver 
DATE: 8/4/2021 
RE: Resignation 
 
 
In accordance with Policy GCQC: 
 
“A resignation by a licensed employee who is under contract to the school should be submitted 
to the Superintendent. Said resignation of a licensed employee may take effect on a date 
approved by the Superintendent acting as agenda of the School Board.  
 
I am in receipt of your email dated July 31 that you intend to resign your position as School 
Psychologist effective August 20. Thank you for your service and we wish you well in the future. 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District 
School Administrative Unit #63 

192 Forest Road Lyndeborough, NH 03082   
                       603-732-9227 
 

Wilton-Lyndeborough Cooperative School District provides a safe and educational environment that promotes student exploration, critical thinking and 
responsible citizenship. 

          Peter Weaver                                Ned Pratt                                            Kristie LaPlante                               Emily Stefanich 
 Superintendent of Schools          Director of Student Support Services Business Administrator         District Curriculum Coordinator 


	WLC School Board Agenda 8.10.21
	Supt. Report 8.10.21
	WLC August 10, 2021 Principal's Report (2)
	FRES SAU 3 School Board Report, AUG 21 (3)
	8.10.21 Curriculum Coordinator Report
	General Assurances
	General Assurances Fed Program
	2021 WLCSD AUP Final - CPA Report
	ACAA Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students 2nd Read 8.10.21
	ACAA-R student discrimination-Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harasmmet complaint procedures 2nd read 8.10.21
	ACAB Harassment and Sexual Harassment of School Employees 2nd read 8.10
	ACAB -R-EMPLOYEE DISCRIMINATION-HARASSMENT AND TITLE IX SEXUAL HARASSMENT COMPLAINT PROCEDURES 2nd read 8.10
	AC-Nondiscrimination-Equal Opportunity 2nd read 8.10.21
	WLC School Board Draft Minutes 7.13.21
	nonpublic 7.1.321  not sealed
	Nomination-SPED Teacher
	Nomination-SPED Teacher Brewster
	Work experience

	Resignation Megan Sass

